

Europe's Forgotten Children

Roma Children and their Families in Europe 2000–2020 A Child Rights Perspective

Kevin Byrne

May 2024

Foreword

Thirty years have now passed since the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (hereafter the Convention) entered into force on 2 September 1990¹. Yet millions of Roma children and adolescents living in Europe continue to be denied full access to their rights, in breach of Article 2.1 of the Convention, which stipulates that governments must "ensure the rights set forth in this Convention to each child within their jurisdiction without discrimination of any kind, irrespective of the child's or his or her parent's or legal guardian's race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national, ethnic or social origin, property, disability, birth or other status".

In 2020, Roma children remain the most vulnerable and rights-deprived child population in Europe, just as they were in 1990. There are an estimated 4.5 million Roma children in Europe² at present and their "social indicators are worse than those of Sierra Leone or Burundi, two of the poorest countries in the world". [O'Flaherty, 2018] Although many Roma families have benefited from Roma inclusion initiatives over the past two decades, successful models have not been mainstreamed into national frameworks and learning has not transferred across borders. As a result, project gains have been eroded by economic downturns, rising levels of hostility against Roma and a failure to institutionalize lessons learned.

Most respondents in a 2016 public consultation [EC, 2018] on the European Union (EU) Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies [EC, 2012] (hereafter the EU Roma Framework) indicated that there had been no major improvement for Roma families in employment, health care, housing or discrimination between 2011 and 2016. This would seem to be confirmed by a European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA) statement in 2018 that "80% of Roma children were still at risk of poverty compared with an EU average of 17%; 30% lived in households with no tap water and their access to safe water was often on a par with people in Ghana or Nepal". [O'Flaherty, 2018] It is difficult to understand why any child anywhere should have to go without adequate food, water, sanitation, health care or education; in one of the world's most advanced regions, it is totally unacceptable.

The Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE) produced its first analysis of the situation of Roma and Sinti in 2000 [OSCE, 2000]. This was one year after the Roma Mahala in Mitrovica, Kosovo, had been burned to the ground by a mob and 8,000 Roma men, women and children expelled. OSCE set out its Action Plan on Improving the Situation of Roma and Sinti in 2003. In 2005, the Decade of Roma Inclusion was initiated to lift Roma families out of poverty. The EU Roma Framework was adopted in April 2011, reviewed in 2016 and renewed in 2020. UNICEF, the European Commission (EC) and various European and international bodies have been working with Roma families, communities and organizations for two decades to improve the situation of Roma children. Such efforts, initiatives and investment have not been in vain, and it is not the intention of this paper to denigrate them, but rather to learn from them. Undoubtedly, thousands of Roma families across Europe have benefited and life has improved for many Roma children.

But we all need to ask ourselves why 20 years of projects and programmes have not succeeded in eliminating the significant well-being gaps between Roma and non-Roma families. Successful models have been developed to support and facilitate Roma children's access to health and

education services, but these have not been widely adopted, and governments have been slow to address the structural and systemic barriers that prevent Roma children from accessing their entitlements. As a result, progress for Roma children over the last 20 years has been slow, sporadic, uncertain and insufficient, and too many children have been left behind.

Twenty years is a long time for a child and a childhood lost can never be recovered. It is unfair to ask another generation of Roma children to forgo their childhood or postpone the realization of their hopes, dreams and aspirations for yet another programme cycle. If Roma children are to achieve equity with their non-Roma peers within the next decade, then Roma inclusion and child rights actors will need to considerably expand their current level of dialogue, cooperation, action and advocacy. Only then will it be possible to develop **child rights-based** models of programme and advocacy work that directly and successfully challenge the prejudice, discrimination and bias that currently deny Roma children access to their entitlements as young European citizens. The recent adoption of three new European frameworks – the EU Strategy on the Rights of the Child; the European Child Guarantee; and the EU Roma Strategic Framework for Equality, Inclusion and Participation 2020–2030 – offers a unique opportunity for child rights actors and Roma inclusion actors to work together to finally close the gap between Roma and non-Roma children in Europe and to guarantee full and equal rights for all children.

A primary aim of this study is to facilitate dialogue and cooperation between the Roma inclusion and child rights sectors in order to mutually develop a more powerful and effective model of action and advocacy for Roma children. For too long our respective work for children has run in parallel, with joint action limited to occasional isolated programmes and projects. This study seeks to highlight the dire living conditions that Roma children and their families have had to endure over the past two decades and still have to endure in every European **country**. In so doing, it hopes to refocus public attention, stakeholders' priorities and resources on long-running injustices that may seem intractable to many but are only insoluble if we allow them to be.

Child rights actors have achieved remarkable successes over the last three decades, and the whole sector has adapted to address emerging threats and evolving manifestations of child rights violations from climate change, technology and artificial intelligence. But the core of our work remains fighting family poverty, combating discrimination and protecting the rights of vulnerable, marginalized children, no matter how long it takes. It is vital that we do not forget that Roma children are still living in dire straits on our very doorstep, more than 30 years after the Convention came into force. We must not allow this to continue. To passively tolerate such a situation diminishes our efforts on behalf of all children. If we once accept – however unwillingly or unwittingly – second-class citizenship for Roma children, then we have weakened our case for fair and equal treatment for **migrant** children, those in detention, those with disability and many others. To fail Roma children is to fail all children. It is also to fail ourselves.

Kevin Byrne 02 September 2022

Contents

Fore	word	•	2
1.	Context, purpose, aims and scope		6
2.	Sources and searches		9
3.	Population and demographic trends		11
4.	Prejudice, discrimination and antigypsyism		12
5.	Unemployment, family poverty and deprivation	-	14
6.	Shelter, accommodation and basic services	-	16
7.	Access to health care	-	19
8.	Mother and child health and nutrition		21
9.	Early childhood education		22
10.	Education: Access, quality and inclusion		24
11.	Child protection		27
12.	Migration	•	31
13.	Asylum		33
14.	European response frameworks		36
15.	Lessons learned		38
16.	The way forward: A child rights approach to social inclusion		41
			44
Glos	Glossary		48
Abbı	•	49	
References			61
Endnotes			01

The States Parties to the present Convention shall respect and ensure the rights set forth in this Convention to each child within their jurisdiction without discrimination of any kind, irrespective of the child's or his or her parent's or legal guardian's race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national, ethnic or social origin, property, disability, birth or other status

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 2.1

In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 3.1

In those States in which ethnic, religious or linguistic minorities, or persons of indigenous origin exist, a child belonging to such a minority shall not be denied the right, in community with other members of his or her group, to enjoy his or her own culture, to profess and practise his or her own religion, or to use his or her own language

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 30

States Parties shall assure to the child who is capable of forming his or her own views the right to express those views freely in all matters affecting the child, the views of the child being given due weight in accordance with the age and maturity of the child.

For this purpose, the child shall in particular be provided the opportunity to be heard in any judicial and administrative proceedings affecting the child, either directly, or through a representative or an appropriate body, in a manner consistent with the procedural rules of national law.

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 12

1. Context, purpose, aims and scope

Roma are the largest and most excluded ethnic minority population in Europe. The majority of Roma families live with levels of poverty and unemployment that impact negatively on their life expectancy and quality of life, and key welfare indicators for Roma children lag significantly behind those of the non-Roma population. Although Roma families and communities have benefited from individual measures, efforts to close the gap between Roma and non-Roma children over the past 20 years have had limited success. Progress has been too slow and too sporadic, and it has left too many Roma children behind.

Roma children have experienced violations of almost every aspect of their civil, social, political and cultural rights. The primary focus of this study, however, is on the significant gaps in key health, education, protection and welfare indicators that still exist between Roma and non-Roma children across Europe, despite the investment of considerable resources over two decades. The study comprises a review of the current literature in this area, emphasizing the latest data and findings, and a meta-evaluation of Roma child-related projects conducted in the last 20 years. Its purpose is twofold. First, it aims to bring renewed attention – particularly that of child rights actors – to the unacceptable living conditions that Roma families across Europe are currently enduring. Second, it seeks to contribute to developing a strong, child-focussed model of programming by exploring the lessons learned – both positive and negative – from 20 years of working with and for Roma families and children. It is our hope that such a model can bring real, positive, sustainable change for all Roma children.

Roma families in Europe 2000

Front and centre among those persons being left outside Europe's new security and prosperity are the Roma. In many countries, Roma have been decreed illegal residents on their own property, banished beyond municipal boundaries, and left outside the community of common concern. ... Romani communities are the subject of hostile perceptions across an extraordinary range of countries. In some, politicians and citizens feel few scruples about expressing derogatory stereotypes of Roma. In this climate, Roma have been prime targets of ... what must properly be called pogroms. ... Although racist violence has claimed its largest toll in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe, where the majority of European Roma live, Romani communities experience widespread discrimination, including violence, in Western Europe as well.

- Max van der Stoel, High Commissioner on National Minorities, OSCE [2000]

The study particularly aims to inform European and national frameworks related directly to the improvement of Roma children's lives and the social inclusion of Roma children and their families within European societies. It is hoped that the study will contribute positively to the implementation of the recently adopted European Child Guarantee framework (hereafter the Child Guarantee)3, the EU Roma Strategic Framework for Equality, Inclusion and Participation 2020–2030 (hereafter the EU Roma Strategic Framework 2020-2030) [EC, 2020.01]4 and the EU Strategy for the Rights of the Child [EC, 2021.02]⁵. A further aspiration is that it will facilitate full inclusion of Roma families and children in all European and national social development strategies and policies related to the achievement of the

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). It is intended to promote a common understanding among all stakeholders of the need for a stronger focus on, and greater investment in, realizing the rights and meeting the needs of Roma children within the next decade.

The study has adopted, as far as possible, a child rights perspective that accepts the rights stipulated in the articles of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child⁷ (hereafter the Convention) and its Optional Protocols as the normative standards to be achieved by all European national governments for all children on their territory, including Roma and Traveller children. It is underpinned by the recognition that Roma and Traveller children have the same moral and legal entitlement to the rights outlined in the Convention as their non-Roma peers; that all European governments have a legal duty and obligation to realize those rights for all children on their territory, regardless of their legal status or ethnicity; and that the Convention provides the most complete, comprehensive and effective framework for action to improve the lives of Roma children and their families. This is not to question the legitimacy, effectiveness or usefulness of other international, European or national frameworks; however, these are assessed within this report in terms of their contribution to supporting national stakeholders to meet their obligations under the Convention.

This perspective demands a holistic, child-centred approach that puts the child at the centre of the analysis while recognizing that the welfare of the child's family and community is integral to the welfare and protection of the child. A holistic approach demands that the child's family and community are supported; that the child's language, culture and religion are respected; and that the age and gender of the child are taken into account. A holistic approach also recognizes that children's rights are indivisible and that to prioritize one over another reduces impact and sustainability. Realizing the child's right to quality education, for instance, requires not just access to school but also family support, proper housing, adequate nutrition, full health care, protection from abuse and exploitation, and respect for the child's culture, language and religion. This report calls for the urgent revision of the current accepted frameworks of response to Roma child issues in both the Roma inclusion and child rights sectors to ensure that the national strategies and policies springing from these frameworks respond swiftly to the full spectrum of Roma children's rights, rather than enabling national authorities to whittle away children's entitlements with impunity. To further strengthen equity and effectiveness, actors in both sectors need to greatly expand their current modes of partnership and cooperation and adopt a common, rights-based, anti-discriminatory approach to realizing Roma children's rights.

This report also adopts a pan-European perspective and framework of analysis. It is common in both child rights and Roma inclusion discourses to present Roma poverty as a Central and Eastern European phenomenon imported into Western Europe through migration. The evidence does not support this perception. [FRA, 2020] There are large numbers of Roma and Traveller citizens in every European country except Malta, and in each of these countries, they seem to be disproportionately represented among those facing poverty, deprivation and discrimination. There are significant gaps in health, education and welfare outcomes between Roma and non-Roma children in all Council of Europe member States and in every European country, from Ireland to Türkiye and from Greece to Finland. While it may be useful for international bodies to prioritize countries with large Roma populations or higher rates of Roma child poverty in their response frameworks, it is not yet proven that this is the most cost-effective way to redress European Roma family poverty and deprivation. This should not, at any rate, remain the only available model.

Roma families in Europe 2002

Despite popular associations of Roma with nomadism, Roma have been stable residents of many of the countries under review for hundreds of years. ... Even so, Roma are widely perceived and treated as outsiders in many countries where they have centuries-old roots ... Contemporary challenges confronting the Roma cannot be understood without a basic appreciation of their historical experience of persecution and rejection. Although Roma history includes episodes of comparatively benign treatment, ... the dominant European response to the Roma has been one of social and legal rejection. ... This legacy is only slowly being addressed. While some attempts have been undertaken, particularly by the OSCE and the Council of Europe, to improve the situation of the Roma, the overall picture remains one of a Europe-wide under-class and its extreme alienation from the rest of society. The treatment of Roma throughout the CEE [Central and Eastern Europe] region, ... is a chilling example of just how severe an impact the wilful denial of citizenship rights can have, especially on the most vulnerable members of the population – women, children and the elderly.

- Chudoba [2002]

Most Roma child-related studies acknowledge the reality of discrimination in Roma lives but fail to go beyond acknowledgement to adopt an explicit anti-discrimination framework. [Byrne and Szira, 2019] Child rights literature tends to describe discrimination against Roma families using passive language - Roma are discriminated against; Roma are the most socially excluded group in Europe, etc. - and to rank discrimination and its consequences equally - Roma children are subject to poor housing, limited education, discrimination, etc. In so doing, the literature runs the risk of unintentionally confirming popular prejudices and stereotypes and reinforcing the notion that discrimination is somehow an inherent element or consequence of Roma culture or lifestyle. The literature reviewed for this paper would seem to indicate that, on the contrary, discrimination against Roma is an inherent feature of governance institutions, administrative structures, service delivery mechanisms and professional practice in all European countries and that this needs to be countered actively, consistently and regularly if Roma children are ever to realize their rights.

Prejudice and discrimination against Roma children are as rooted in child rights and child welfare institutions as they are in other societal institutions, and they operate actively, although often unconsciously, against the best interests of Roma children and their families. It is important that the role, nature, consequences and mechanisms of discrimination against Roma children within child rights discourse and institutions is fully and openly explored and that child rights actors and agencies first acknowledge and then challenge their own implicit biases. Discrimination negatively affects many vulnerable child populations and contributes significantly to family poverty and deprivation across Europe. However, the scale, extent and impact of the discrimination experienced by Roma children is unprecedented in Europe. Indeed, they are probably the only European child population for whom public prejudice and structured discrimination are the main, primary and direct cause of their poverty, deprivation and exclusion.

Unfortunately, this report is unable to fully adopt a child rights-based approach⁸ because of its inability to sufficiently represent the narratives of Roma families and children. The absence of Roma voices in child rights discourse, particularly Roma children's voices, has been a key factor impeding the development of a strong child rights model of Roma inclusion. Research has, often unwittingly, reinforced negative perceptions of Roma by not challenging strongly enough the common perception that Roma's dire living conditions are self-inflicted or even self-chosen. This, in turn, has skewed Romarelated policy, planning and programming over many years. [Byrne and Szira, 2019] The author has tried to redress this inherent flaw in all Roma child-related research by drawing as much as possible on Roma-led research and evaluations. Nevertheless, there is still insufficient Roma-led research on children to be able to present the many severe violations of Roma children's rights across Europe in a way that is satisfactorily counterbalanced with a realistic and sympathetic description of the warmth, strength and resilience of Roma children and their families. It is hoped that this report will spark a more balanced debate and open up the space for Roma children and families to be heard by child rights advocates, actors and agencies.

2. Sources and searches

This study drew on open-access research studies, evaluations, assessments and policy analyses relating to Roma children⁹ and families across 41 European countries¹⁰ undertaken between 2000 and 2020. The typology of the studies examined encompasses those with a transnational, national, regional or local focus, and those that use quantitative, qualitative or mixed methodologies. The search strategy initially identified child-related research across all European countries in the last two decades. It then refined this down to child-focussed research which fell into any of three categories: (1) childfocussed/Roma-inclusive, (2) Roma-focussed/child-inclusive or (3) Roma child-specific. In the first two categories, a 'child-focussed' document was defined as one that offered 'substantial comment' on Roma child issues, meaning that it either included a discrete section or chapter on Roma children or featured Roma children in a significant number of sections. This, of course, was still open to interpretation.

The search initially drew on the following sources: a database of 486 Roma child-related studies spanning 39 European countries that had been identified as part of a 2018 mapping exercise [Byrne and Szira, 2019]; the UNICEF Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS) carried out in Serbia, Kosovo, [UNICEF, 2014.01 and 2014.02] Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and North Macedonia between 2010 and 2020 [Bernat, 2015; Byrne 2019]; and the multi-country surveys of Roma and Traveller families conducted by FRA in 2011, 2016 and 2020 [FRA, 2012, 2016 and 2020].

MICS is the largest source of statistically sound and internationally comparable data on women and children worldwide, and it is by far the most Roma child-focussed research/database available in Europe. MICS measures national child populations against internationally accepted child health, development, education and welfare indicators, and in the five countries noted above, MICS surveyed a sample of the general child population and the Roma child population. This enables direct comparison between Roma and non-Roma families and clear identification of the gaps between them, measured according to internationally agreed criteria.

The Minorities and Discrimination Surveys (MIDIS I and II) run by FRA in 2011 and 2016 also collected comparable data on Roma households in EU member States. The report 'Roma and Travellers in Six Countries' [FRA, 2020] presents findings from interviews with almost 4,700 Roma and Travellers in Belgium, France, Ireland, the Netherlands, Sweden and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland. Together, these three surveys highlight the gaps between Roma and non-Roma families in 18 European States over a 10-year period.

The author then trawled an updated library of development, academic, Roma inclusion and child rights websites and databases initially identified during the 2018 mapping exercise, [Byrne and Szira, 2019] using 'Roma Child 2000-2020' as a filter. This gave access to a number of Roma child-focussed thematic studies, evaluations and situation analyses from United Nations agencies, EU institutions, universities, international and local non-governmental organizations (NGOs), as well as human rights, child rights, social inclusion and Roma rights networks. Theses and other purely academic papers were dismissed, as were funding proposals and all research, evaluations and journal articles that were not publicly available. The final analysis prioritized peer-reviewed, transnational, multi-country research that enabled comparison between (1) Roma and non-Roma populations and (2) country contexts and responses. These sources were supplemented by thematic studies and country situation analyses from the United Nations, EU, international agencies and Roma organizations that illustrate particular thematic or country issues, solutions and/or good practice.

The sections on health and nutrition draw on the findings of the MATRIX survey of Roma and Traveller health [MATRIX, 2014], an evidence-based review of the literature on Roma health conducted between 2008 and 2013 in the 28 EU member States plus Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein. The survey includes case studies from Bulgaria, Croatia, Czechia, France, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Spain and the United Kingdom.

This report also drew on the database of country monitoring reports of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI), which undertakes a cycle of assessment of racism and antigypsyism, as well as state responses to it, in all 47 Council of Europe States [ECRI, n.d.].

To identify good practice and learn from programmatic interventions, the study drew on the retrospective assessment of the 'Implementation of the Action Plan for Improving the Situation of Roma and Sinti Within the OSCE Area 2003-2013' [OSCE, 2013]; the 2015 evaluation of the Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance (IPA) I programme [Allen et al, 2016]; the Decade of Roma Inclusion Progress Reports [Friedmann, 2015] and Decade Watch series published between 2005 and 2015 [Roma Decade, n.d.]; and the evaluations of implementation of National Roma Integration Strategies (NRIS)¹¹ provided by the EC.

The NRIS country progress reports submitted to the EC are a particularly valuable resource. The EC has established rigorous NRIS monitoring and evaluation processes, and the Roma Civil Monitoring reports (RCMs) for EU countries (except Malta) provide a Roma perspective on the situation of Roma families in EU countries [Center for Policy Studies, n.d.]. These reports have been analysed and synthesised [Hojsík et al, 2020; Hojsík and Fremlová, 2018; Ryder, 2020], and they provide many of the models of good practice presented in this report. The EC also commissioned a meta-evaluation of NRIS interventions through the Joint Research Centre [Fresno et al, 2019.02].

Finally, this report also drew on the Feasibility Study for a Child Guarantee (FSCG) commissioned by the Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion of the EC [Frazer et al, 2020] and particularly the 'Target Group Discussion Paper on Children living in Precarious Family Situations' [Fresno et al, 2019.01]. These reports were produced by a consortium of child rights actors and they bring together input from the following sources: 28 Country Reports; reports on each of the five priority areas identified by the European Parliament (free health care; free education; free childcare; decent housing; adequate nutrition); a report on each of the four target groups singled out by the EC (children in institutions; children with disabilities; children with a migrant background; and children living in a precarious family situation); an online consultation with key stakeholders; eight case studies highlighting lessons from international funding programmes; four consultations with children (although it is not clear how far Roma children were included in these) [Morabito et al, 2019]; and four fact-finding workshops. Roma children were considered under the category 'children in a precarious situation'.

Roma children and families are widely studied, but there is a far more limited portfolio of Roma childspecific studies and an even narrower band of child rights-oriented research on Roma children in Europe. Therefore, this report quotes mainly, but not exclusively, either child-focussed/Roma-inclusive studies or Roma-focussed/child-inclusive studies.

3. Population and demographic trends

Roma are a diverse and heterogenous population and even the term 'Roma and Travellers' as used within EU and Council of Europe documents can be disputed. [Marsh, 2007] Although Roma constitute Europe's largest ethnic minority, in many European countries neither the Roma population nor its constituent groupings are recognized as an ethnic identity under national law. The use of the generic term 'Roma' in this report is not intended to deny the diversity that exists across and within these communities and groups. Their diversity, as well as their many commonalities, needs to be acknowledged and respected, not just for practical programming purposes but also because respect for the child's own unique identity, culture and traditions is a core right guaranteed to every child under the Convention.

The Council of Europe estimates [COE, 2012.02] that there are approximately 11 million Roma living in the Europe and Central Asia region, of whom about 4.5 million are children. This is more than twice the child-population of Belgium. The majority of Roma – about 6 million people, including about 2.5 million children - live in the EU. In terms of absolute numbers, Türkiye has the largest Roma population in Europe (2.75 million), followed by Romania (1.85 million); Russian Federation (825,000); Bulgaria, Hungary and Spain (750,000 each); Serbia (600,000); Slovakia (490,000); and France (400,000). Albania, Czechia, Germany, Greece, Italy, Moldova, North Macedonia, the United Kingdom, and Ukraine each have a Roma population of between 100,000 and 250,000. The Roma population in most Western countries includes varying proportions of migrant and national families. Considered as a percentage of the overall population, Bulgaria ranks first in Europe, with Roma constituting almost one tenth of the country's total population (9.94 per cent). It is followed by North Macedonia (9.56 per cent); Slovakia (9.02 per cent); Romania (8.63 per cent); Serbia (8.23 per cent); and Hungary (7.49 per cent).

The Roma population is consistently younger than the European population across all European countries. Using the average for the 28 EU member States, MATRIX 2014 estimated12 that the European Roma population in 2014 had an average age of 25.1 years, compared to 40.2 years for the non-Roma population. Various studies across Europe [Gedeshi and Jorgoni, 2011; Byrne, 2013.03; UNICEF, 2014.01] have reinforced the original EU Roma Framework calculation in 2011 that 35.7 per

cent of the Roma population in Europe at that time were under 15 years of age, compared to only 15.7 per cent of the EU population overall. [EC, 2011.01] Current census data seems to justify taking 40 per cent as an approximate proportion of children in the European Roma child population, or about 4.5 million children in total. For instance, the 2016 census in Ireland [Central Statistics Office, 2016] found that under-15s made up 39.7 per cent of the Irish Traveller population and that 49.6 per cent of Travellers were between 0 and 19 years of age. This would seem to confirm a continuing need to adopt a strong child-focussed approach to Roma inclusion across the European region.

Roma children in South-East Europe 2007

Poverty and exclusion affect children even before they are born because of the conditions of their family and mother. Low birth weight of new-born children (less than 2,500 grams) is often related to low nutritional status among poor pregnant women. The majority of Roma in South East Europe (53%) reported going hungry in the previous month, compared with only 9% of average non-Roma population. Linked to this, almost twice as many Roma children have low weight at birth compared with the national average population.

This disadvantage increases over the years. ... Six times as many Roma children are underweight, compared to the average national figures in Serbia. In FYR Macedonia three times as many Roma as national average are underweight.

When Roma children reach school age, ... the disadvantages they experienced since birth become more visible. ... The MICS survey in FYR Macedonia shows that only 45% of the 63% of Roma children who entered primary school manage to complete it. In Serbia only 13% of Roma children complete primary school ... with the result that their chances of going on to secondary and higher education are much reduced in comparison to non-Roma children.

- Adapted from UNICEF [2007]

4. Prejudice, discrimination and antigypsyism

European commitment to Roma inclusion has been blighted over the last half century by blatantly antifamily policies and campaigns which have repeatedly been aimed at Roma communities by national, regional and local governments. Such instances have included the removal of children from families in Sweden [Swedish Ministry of Culture, 2015]; involuntary sterilization of Roma women in Slovakia [Zampas et al, 2003]; forced assignment of Roma families to substandard 'nomad camps' in Italy [Bormioli et al, 2014]; and mass deportations from France. [Cahn and Guild, 2010] These experiences have inevitably left a deep impression in Roma culture, and they act to remind Roma families of the risks their children face from prejudice and antagonism in almost every European country. FRA [2016] stated that 40 per cent of Roma had been victims of hate-motivated harassment or discrimination in

the previous five years. FRA [2020] notes that almost half (45 per cent) of Europeans are uncomfortable with Roma as neighbours and that 44 per cent of Roma and Travellers surveyed in Western Europe in 2019 had experienced hate-motivated harassment in the previous year, while 7 per cent had experienced violence.

ECRI country monitoring reports [ECRI, n.d.] show that across Europe, the period from 2015 to 2020 saw a consistent increase in hate speech promulgating negative stereotypes of Roma and promoting segregation, exclusion, direct discrimination and even violence. The European Roma Rights Centre (ERRC) [ERRC, 2011.01] has documented hundreds of assaults on Roma men, women and children; mob attacks on Roma homes and settlements; burning of houses, cars and property; forced evictions; and even killings. Children of all ages have been injured and killed in these attacks. Roma boys and young men seem to be at particular risk of attack in European cities.¹³

Rising levels of hate speech and public demonstrations of violence represent only the tip of the iceberg for Roma families. Discrimination affects Roma families every day, through the many institutional, structural and systemic barriers that prohibit, prevent or restrict their access to health, housing, education, employment, child protection, family welfare and social care services. This discrimination is often exacerbated by an insidious but frequently unrecognized bias prevalent in service-delivery personnel and professionals which reduces their willingness to adjust procedures and processes in order to facilitate Roma families' access to their entitlements. Agencies are increasingly recognizing the need to examine Roma inequality through an antigypsyism lens, but there is still no common understanding of the scope, depth or implications of antigypsyism for children and their rights.

Definition of antigypsyism

[A] historically constructed, persistent complex of customary racism against social groups identified under the stigma 'gypsy' or other related terms that incorporates a homogenizing and essentializing perception and description of these groups; the attribution of specific characteristics to them; discriminating social structures and violent practices that emerge against that background, which have a degrading and ostracizing effect, and which reproduce structural disadvantages.

- Alliance against Antigypsyism [2017]

Unfortunately, not enough is known about the current reality of Roma children's everyday lives. To date, there has been no large-scale or in-depth examination - by either the child rights or the Roma rights sectors - of the strengths and stresses of Roma family life in today's Europe from a child rights perspective, and particularly no Roma child-led research. However, MICS data and other studies clearly illustrate the impact of discrimination and exclusion on the life chances of Roma children.

Systemic exclusion from the labour market leaves many Roma families living in a cycle of poverty that erodes their capacity to provide a safe and nurturing environment for their children. Non-participation in school and limited access to statutory services increases the child's vulnerability even further. All available research indicates that as a result of family poverty, poor living conditions, active discrimination and social exclusion, Roma children consistently score higher than national averages on internationally accepted indicators¹⁴ of children at risk – unregistered births; exposure to physical and psychological violence; acceptance of domestic abuse; child marriage; child labour; trafficking; and child disability. Roma children are also disproportionately represented in institutional care.

While ECRI has documented the increased risk of death or injury from racist violence and the emotional and mental stress of living with such risk, Roma children also face the hazards of family poverty, which negatively affects the child's health, well-being and future life prospects. [Tomer, 2014] Discrimination, including antigypsyism, inevitably weakens a child's protective environment in various ways: it disrupts family life and community protection mechanisms; it denies the child access to wider social care and protection mechanisms; it depletes the family's resources; and it undermines parents' independence and self-sufficiency, limiting their capacity to provide for a child as they would wish. Living within a hostile social environment undoubtedly erodes the confidence of Roma children and challenges their resilience. Interactions outside their immediate circle are likely to be threatening, stressful and even conflictual, and the messages they receive from wider society tend to be negative, debilitating and hostile. Discrimination increases Roma children's exposure to external risks and reduces their opportunities to enjoy childhood.

5. Unemployment, family poverty and deprivation

MIDIS II found that 80 per cent of Roma in the nine European countries surveyed were living below the at-risk-of-poverty threshold¹⁵ in 2016, and that this figure was as high as 98 per cent in Spain, 96 per cent in Greece and 93 per cent in Croatia. FRA [2020] found in 2018 that every fourth Roma and Traveller child surveyed (23 per cent) was living in a household characterized by severe material deprivation, compared with an EU average of only 6.6 per cent for children in the general population. 16 These figures, while valid, assume an income-based definition of poverty, which may provide an incomplete understanding of child poverty. For children, income poverty is linked to deprivation and social exclusion, and all three must be examined in order to fully ascertain the impact of poverty on children and families.

Employment is acknowledged to be a key condition contributing to social cohesion, social inclusion and child well-being. MIDIS II found that only one in four (25 per cent) Roma aged 16 years or older reported 'employed' or 'self-employed' as their main activity at the time of the survey, compared with 64 per cent of the general population in the respective EU member States. There had been no improvement in employment rates since 2011. Self-declared employment rates of Roma were highest in Greece (43 per cent), followed by Hungary (36 per cent) and Portugal (34 per cent). Overall, across the MIDIS II countries, one third of Roma respondents (34 per cent) declared themselves to be 'unemployed', and the figure was above 50 per cent in Croatia (62 per cent), Spain (57 per cent) and Bulgaria (55 per cent). The situation seems to be much the same still in Western Europe. FRA [2020] shows that the proportion of Roma and Travellers in work is still well below the employment rate of the general population, ranging from 15 per cent in Ireland to 50 per cent in Belgium.

The employment gap between Roma women and men is high, except in Ireland, ranging from 10 percentage points in Sweden to 52 percentage points in the United Kingdom. Overall, Roma women report much lower employment rates than Roma men - 16 per cent compared with 34 per cent. The situation of young people is substantially worse.

On average, 63 per cent of Roma aged 16-24 were not in employment, education or training (NEET) at the time of the MIDIS II survey, compared with an EU average NEET rate of 12 per cent for the same age group. There appear to be three main reasons behind the labour market disadvantage of Roma in all countries: (1) the low average educational level of the Roma populations; (2) weak institutional capacity to redress employment inequities and facilitate Roma entry into the labour market; and (3) employer discrimination.

Tackling discrimination in housing and improving Roma employment rates are essential long-term strategies to address family poverty. Unfortunately, however, their success cannot be guaranteed within a reasonable timescale. Furthermore, while having a job may be the best safeguard against social exclusion, it is not a sufficient guarantee against poverty, particularly for families with children. In 2018, 10.8 per cent of households in the EU-27 with dependent children faced the risk of inwork poverty, a share that was 2.9 percentage points higher than that recorded among households without dependent children. Romania (17.4 per cent) recorded the highest rate of in-work poverty for households with dependent children, followed by Spain (15.8 per cent) and Italy (15.5 per cent). [Eurostat, 2018] In-work poverty is mostly a result of low labour force attachment and inadequate earnings, income support or tax-benefit systems, all of which are associated with the Roma population. For example, in Spain, 19.3 per cent of Roma people at risk of poverty actually have a job [FSG, 2020]. It should not therefore be assumed that increasing Roma employment will automatically reduce Roma family poverty without major structural changes in employment and wage patterns.

Child poverty extends beyond income poverty, but family income is crucially important for children's health, education and development outcomes. Evidence [SPC, 2014] shows that children living in lowincome households have worse cognitive, social behavioural and health outcomes, in part because they are poorer. Roma child poverty is therefore an immediate issue that needs to be urgently and directly addressed. Action to improve children's health, welfare and development cannot be delayed for years pending achievement of long-term employment and housing integration goals. Social transfers can help mitigate the immediate effects of family poverty and reduce the risk of child poverty by up to 40 per cent in EU countries (although the impact varies across member States). [Cooper and Stewart, 2013] It would seem to follow that ensuring Roma families' immediate access to social welfare has to be a key strand of any Roma child rights strategy. Lack of access to social welfare/assistance is a significant contributor to Roma family poverty and, as such, is a major risk factor for Roma children already vulnerable to trafficking, child labour, child begging and child marriage.

Although fair and equal access to social welfare systems, structures and programmes is a fairly immediate issue for many Roma children, there is a dearth of research on the barriers that Roma families face in accessing their welfare entitlements. [Byrne and Szira, 2019] This absence of research on 'access to social welfare/assistance' represents an imbalance that needs to be addressed urgently. The RCMs identify lack of identity documents, illiteracy and lack of information as barriers that block Roma families from accessing benefits, and anecdotal and programmatic evidence indicates that these are barriers to general social welfare services too. [Hosjik, Fremlová, and Zentai, 2020] The complexity of the administrative conditions and procedures involved in applying for some social welfare benefits creates real barriers for many vulnerable families trying to access social welfare support and effectively debars many Roma families from accessing their entitlements. [Byrne, 2013.03] If Roma family poverty is to be redressed within any reasonable timescale, a comprehensive audit of anti-Roma bias needs to be undertaken as soon as possible for every national social welfare system in Europe in order to identify and challenge structural and systemic barriers to Roma access.

All States recognize the value of family and child benefits, particularly to vulnerable children, and a rights-based approach to child well-being would imply that these benefits should be available to all children residing on the national territory, regardless of their legal or migration status or ethnicity. Strengthening and expanding national child benefit systems, to ensure that they reach all families, needs to be an integral strand of any strategy aimed at redressing Roma poverty. The exclusion of Roma families from state social benefits and assistance schemes has an immediate, negative impact on the Roma child's physical, mental and emotional development, and this cannot be mitigated or compensated for by increased engagement with other child support institutions like schools or clinics. It is an area of discrimination and deprivation that needs to be addressed urgently. Without resolution, the other strands of support for Roma inclusion are unlikely to succeed.

6. Shelter, accommodation and basic services

Article 27.3 of the Convention¹⁷ recognizes that proper accommodation is key to ensuring family stability and a protective environment for children, and the provision of quality housing¹⁸ and living environments is increasingly acknowledged as a crucial mechanism for tackling child poverty, reducing risk and promoting social inclusion. [ESN, 2012; Frazier and Marlier, 2014; Brozaitis et al, 2018] The available evidence shows a clear link between housing quality [Culora and Janta, 2020] and the physical, mental and emotional well-being of children, as well as their overall development. [Eurofound, 2016]

In 2014, OSCE assessed [OSCE, 2014] the quality of Roma housing conditions in the Western Balkans against international standards. It found that the quality of Roma settlements and housing facilities was substandard compared with that of the average population, highlighting Roma's social and economic exclusion. The survey observed increasing movement of Roma families from rural areas to the fringes of towns and urban centres. Following internationally accepted measures, conventions and definitions, it found issues relating to security of tenure; legalization; threats of eviction; access to basic services and infrastructure; affordability; habitability; location; and access to social housing. The RCMs indicate [Hojsík and Fremlová, 2018] that these are still issues impeding Roma inclusion across Europe. Due to family poverty, multiple deprivation and social exclusion, Roma are overrepresented in the social housing sector and therefore share with other poor families the disadvantage of insufficient available social housing.

Roma families, however, have to endure the added disadvantages of direct and indirect discrimination. This is often in flagrant violation of the EU Racial Equality Directive, which highlights housing among the publicly available goods and services to which nondiscriminatory access and supply should be granted. [Council of the European Union, 2020] Direct discrimination excludes Roma families from much of the private rental market. Landlords refuse to accept them, or they offer only insecure or undocumented tenure, which makes eviction easier and prevents access to the education, health and welfare services to which they may be entitled. Local authorities can also impose discriminatory conditions related to residence, employment, status, language or literacy that disproportionately affect Roma families' eligibility for social housing. Cuts made in recent years to housing benefits and social assistance have also had a general impact on housing affordability.

Accessing suitable accommodation is even more difficult for Traveller families with mobile lifestyles.

In the United Kingdom, Ireland and Belgium, there is a lack of sites for both temporary and residential stay and access to basic amenities in existing halting sites appears to be insufficient in many regards. More than 90 per cent of Travellers in Ireland, Belgium and the Netherlands feel that there are not enough appropriate halting sites for them to live on. Around one fifth of the caravan dwellers in Belgium and of Gypsies and Travellers in the United Kingdom report that they have no access to tap water or electricity at halting sites. [FRA, 2020] The French Gens du Voyage experience similar challenges [Fantacci and Schulmann, 2014; Taoussi, 2017], and although mobile Roma make up only about two per cent of all Roma in Italy, no authorized halting sites are provided. In most EU member States, a large share of housing inhabited by Roma is of low quality compared to that of the general population, and Roma housing still tends to be concentrated in neighbourhoods with more environmental problems.

Table 1. Roma living in areas affected by pollution compared with the general population in nine **EU member States (%)**

Occupation	Pollution, grime or other environmental problem		
Country	Roma Communities, 2016	Non-Roma communities, 2014	
Bulgaria	27	15.7	
Croatia	31	05.7	
Czechia	41	13.7	
Greece	28	23.2	
Hungary	24	15.0	
Portugal	36	13.7	
Romania	11	16.8	
Slovakia	33	12.2	
Spain	27	10.2	
Total	25		

Source: Adapted from FRA [2016]

MIDIS II found that on average, non-Roma families had almost twice as many rooms per person (1.3) than Roma families (0.7). Roma homes were also more likely to have a leaking roof; damp walls, floors or foundations; rot in the window frames or floor; and insufficient light - all factors that may be harmful for children's health. MIDIS II results showed that 10 per cent of Roma families lived in accommodation without electricity; 30 per cent of Roma children across nine EU States¹⁹ still did not have tap water inside their dwelling; and 46 per cent had no indoor toilet, shower or bathroom. This inequitable pattern was confirmed by an ERRC survey [ERRC, 2017.01; Szilvasi and de Verneuil, 2019] on access to drinking water and sanitation in 93 Roma settlements in seven countries. Water sources in marginalized settlements are often polluted by animals, industrial pollution or agricultural fertilizers. MIDIS II reports that pollution and environmental problems can be up to six times more prevalent in Roma communities than in those of non-Roma populations. RCMs indicate that this is also the case beyond the MIDIS II sample countries.

A recent survey by the European Environmental Bureau of 32 sites in five European countries found that Roma communities are regularly excluded from basic environmental services, such as drinking water, sanitation and waste management, while neighbouring areas receive these services. [Heidegger and Wiese, 2020] Roma settlements are also disproportionately affected by environmental burdens like pollution and environmental degradation stemming from nearby waste dumps and landfills, contaminated sites or dirty industries.

Spatial segregation means that Roma families often have no choice but to live in environmentally degraded or polluted sites that leave children at risk of infection, illness or injury. Even when Roma families are living in settlements where others would not settle, they are subjected to eviction, either by the local authorities or by violent mobs, without notice or direction to alternative accommodation. ECRI country monitoring reports have documented illegal evictions by local authorities in Albania, Czechia, France, Hungary, Serbia and Slovakia; mob attacks on Roma settlements in Austria, Czechia, Romania and Türkiye; and protests against Roma housing in the United Kingdom, Belgium, Ireland and Switzerland. The Collectif National Droits de l'Homme Romeurope [CNDHR 2018] reported at least one eviction every three days in France in 2017, often after the water supply had been cut off. Evictions have major negative consequences for Roma health, disrupting families' access to health services. [Médecins du Monde, 2011]

Although there is no comprehensive quantitative data due to underreporting, it has been noted across all EU member States that Roma generally have limited access to housing in non-Roma neighbourhoods due to discrimination and prejudice. The RCMs indicate that shortage of affordable and secure housing and concentration of Roma families into segregated monoethnic neighbourhoods are prevalent in all EU member States. Public housing allocation policies in many countries seem to be - explicitly or implicitly - based on segregation, in defiance of European law. Social housing allocation techniques used during the decline of the public rental housing stock were often linked with urban renewal strategies to keep Roma and poor households in compact buildings or neighbourhoods for easier management. One of the worst examples of systemic residential segregation noted in the RCMs is the approach practised by many Italian municipalities of accommodating Roma families in 'nomad camps' rather than facilitating access to regular housing. Roma in Italy continue to be deprived of access to standard housing and public authorities (with few exceptions) systematically segregate them into monoethnic camps. The Italian RCM report describes poor conditions on several sites due to ruined or slum housing; lack of access to drinking water and sanitation; limited garbage collection; insecure access to electricity; restricted heating; and overcrowding. The German RCM reports similar problems regarding improvised and informal settlements in parks and on brownfield sites around many German cities.

Disconnect between central and local governments seems to be a factor in both education and housing segregation. Local authorities operate best within strong national frameworks that give them clear, unambiguous guidance and practical support, particularly in areas where there may not be strong local support for action. Despite having more robust welfare and public administration systems, national governments in many Western European States exercise little supervision over local government policy on Roma inclusion, so that the actualization of NRIS targets through practical initiatives has to depend on the political will of local leadership. In France and Italy, despite NRIS desegregation and inclusion objectives, local authorities continue to segregate Roma families and seldom engage in more progressive solutions. The 2019 National Traveller and Roma Inclusion Strategy 2017-2021 report for Ireland indicates a systemic failure by local authorities to meet their statutory responsibilities to provide adequate and culturally appropriate accommodation for

Travellers. This is despite high levels of discrimination against Travellers/Roma in the private and public social rental sector and the availability of funding for Traveller accommodation. The shadow report to the Committee on the Rights of the Child in 2015 [Harmon, 2015] pointed out that in 2010, during a time of extreme pressure on Traveller accommodation in Ireland, 54 per cent of the money available to local authorities for Traveller accommodation went unspent; in 2011, this figure was 62 per cent and in 2012, 34 per cent. [Harvey, 2013]

7. Access to health care

The MICS data show very clearly that the health of Roma women and children is substantially worse than that of their non-Roma peers. Indeed, the indicators used enable actual measurement of the gaps between them in key health areas. These gaps are not Balkan-specific. The MATRIX 2014 study, conducted across 31 European countries in 2014, found that Roma populations are generally exposed to a wider range of health risks; live less healthy lifestyles; have poorer access to, and lower uptake of, primary care and preventative health services; suffer poorer health outcomes in terms of morbidity from both infectious and chronic diseases; and have a shorter estimated life expectancy. On average, in Belgium, France, the Netherlands, Ireland, Sweden and the United Kingdom, almost every third Roma respondent (29 per cent) experienced limitations to their usual activities due to their health, compared with one in four (25 per cent) among the general population. Health also affects employment rates, especially for men: 36 per cent said that they did not seek work because of health problems. [FRA, 2020]

Patterns of Roma access to and use of health services are not homogeneous. However, Roma families across Europe face economic and cultural barriers to accessing health care that are rooted in the organization of health systems, discrimination, culture and language, health literacy, service user attributes and economic factors. MATRIX 2014 indicates that Roma families are overly dependent on emergency services and hospital outpatient departments, and that even there, Roma families have been refused treatment. [van Hout and Stankiewizc, 2009] MIDIS II results show that one Roma in four is not covered by national health insurance and that Roma families remain disproportionately represented, in every country, among those who are not covered by health insurance.

Other practical barriers also affect children's ability to access health care services. These include lack of medical records; language; distance from medical centres and health services; lack of information; and confusion on the part of service providers about families' legal status and entitlements. The extent of children's access to national health care systems and services is frequently determined by their perceived legal status and/or their parent's insurance status in the country. The arbitrary (and often inaccurate) interpretation of Roma families' legal or migration status by local health personnel can significantly influence the services that health facilities and personnel are prepared to offer, and families' options can be diluted further by local assessments of whether the treatment sought is considered 'urgent' or 'essential'. MATRIX indicates a wide literature outlining discrimination or fear of discrimination, as well as cultural barriers, and the NRIS country progress reports published between 2011 and 2019 [Hojsík and Fremlová, 2018; 25-29] recorded numerous incidents of discriminatory behaviour. FRA 2020 reported that in 2019, around one in 10 Roma and Travellers said that they had experienced direct discrimination when accessing health care in the previous 12 months.

All children are entitled to emergency health care in EU and European Economic Area member States and in the pre-accession countries, and this may be one reason why Roma families use emergency services more than non-Roma. However, the services available under emergency care differ from country to country, and national laws regarding families' entitlements to primary and secondary health care services vary considerably. Entitlement in law does not necessarily guarantee access to health care, since there can be legal or administrative conditionality.

The NRIS reports across 27 EU member States identify specific health areas in which Roma are performing much worse than the majority population, particularly Roma women, children and the elderly. [Hojsík and Fremlová, 2018: pp. 25-29] These include low rates of child vaccination; viral infections like HIV/AIDS and hepatitis; perinatal and women's health issues; cardiovascular diseases; respiratory diseases; mental health issues; and diabetes, obesity and nutritional deficiencies. MATRIX 2014 notes that there are few substantial studies and data on the health of Roma women, but MIDIS II found that on average, 23 per cent of Roma women experienced health limitations compared with 17 per cent of non-Roma women. This seems to be confirmed by the ROOSA survey [Weiste-Paakkanen et al, 2018] in Finland and the Roma Needs Assessment in Ireland. [Pavee Point, 2018.01]

The available data indicate that Roma women have less access to family planning supplies, higher birth rates, higher numbers of teenage pregnancies, higher rates of illegal or unsafe abortions and lower uptake of cervical screening. They have higher rates of poor infant outcomes, including low birthweight and preterm birth, and they face multiple barriers to accessing health care services. [Colombini et al, 2011; Mihailov, 2012; Pavee Point, 2014] Regarding medical insurance, 18 per cent of Roma women declared having no medical insurance, compared with only 8 per cent of non-Roma women. Roma women also face unjustified costs and informal charges that deter them from seeking timely medical help, as well as discrimination, abuse and low-quality treatment when admitted to the maternity hospital. [Watson and Downe, 2017]

There has been very little research on the long-term impact of discrimination on Roma children's mental and emotional development. Similarly, the European health sector has undertaken only limited study [Goward et al, 2006; Walker, 2008] of the impact of the constant stress, hostility and poverty endured by tens of thousands of Roma children living in shacks, squats and camps, where they may be vulnerable to the elements and exposed to hostility, open expressions of prejudice and deliberate discrimination. Studies [ERRC, 2014] conducted in 2011 in the formal camps in Italy revealed that a high percentage of children raised in such deprived environments are prone to anxiety disorders, phobias, sleep disorders, attention and hyperactivity disorders, and delays in learning, which "are also predictive of more serious disorders in adolescence and adulthood". [Associazione 21 Luglio, 2010]

The All-Ireland Traveller Health Study [Kelleher et al, 2010] observed that the burden of mental illness is higher in the Traveller community than in the general population and that this reflects broader social determinants of health. Between 2000 and 2006, the suicide rate among Irish Travellers was over three times that of the total population; in 2005, it was over five times the national rate. Over 65 per cent of Traveller suicides occurred among those aged under 30, compared with only 34 per cent for the same age cohort in the general population. The need to tackle mental health issues among the Traveller community is particularly urgent, given that 42 per cent of Irish Travellers are under the age of 15. [Pavee Point, 2015]

Squeezed into settlements and cut off from health care and sanitation, Roma communities were also especially vulnerable in the COVID-19 pandemic, and had additional difficulties observing lockdowns, social distancing and even hygiene recommendations. Roma families are often confined to overcrowded neighbourhoods with limited access to clean water and sewage, overcrowded dwellings and few open spaces. [Müller et al, 2020] Roma families very likely paid dearly during the pandemic for years of official neglect, and they faced further risks due to the potential of COVID-related restrictions to facilitate, justify or conceal hate crimes – as in the case of five Roma children in Slovakia who were beaten and threatened with a gun for straying outside their campsite in search of water. [Rorke, 2020]

8. Mother and child health and nutrition

MATRIX 2014 records especially high rates of infant mortality among Roma in Bulgaria, Czechia, Hungary, Italy and Slovakia, and this was confirmed by the NRIS progress reports for 2011 to 2019.

Studies indicate a direct relationship between higher infant mortality among Roma and the families' socio-economic conditions, with a high incidence of risk factors among pregnant women, especially poor housing and environmental conditions, which increase the relative risk of lower birth weight and other non-favourable outcomes. [Bobak et al, 2005] In Hungary, data also suggest a link between relatively high infant mortality rates and social determinants of health. [Mihailov, 2012] The European Public Health Alliance [EPHA, 2018] observes that the infant mortality rate among Roma children in Romania is four times higher than the national average, and that according to the 1992–2012 findings of the Prognostic Institute of the Slovak Academy of Science, the infant mortality rate in the first year of life was approximately 2.5 times higher in Roma communities than for the whole population of Slovakia. Of every 1,000 live births in Roma localities during that time period, 20 infants under the age of 1 died; in the Slovak majority population, the figure was only 8 in every 1,000. Traveller infant mortality is estimated at 14.1 per 1,000 live births in Ireland, compared to an infant mortality rate of 3.9 per 1,000 in the general population, giving an infant mortality ratio for Traveller children which is 3.6 times higher than that of the general population. [Kelleher et al, 2010; Pavee Point, 2014]

Vaccination campaigns were one of the most notable health achievements highlighted by National Roma Contact Points in the 2019 NRIS review [EC, 2019], particularly in Croatia, Hungary, France and Greece. However, MICS 2014 found that only 44 per cent of Roma children under 3 years of age in Serbia had received the full schedule of vaccinations, compared with 80 per cent of non-Roma children. Meanwhile, a survey by the Roma NGO Romalen Kakanj [Kali Sara, 2020] in the **Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina** found that 95 per cent of children belonging to the Roma national minority are either not immunized (89 per cent) or have an incomplete immunization status (6 per cent). In most cases, children had received a vaccine only at birth and the current coverage rate among the Roma population generally was only around 5 per cent. The Romalen Kakanj research shows that tackling undervaccination of Roma children has to be integrated within wider strengthening and reform of the primary health care system.

Hunger is a significant consequence of family poverty and a major contributor to poor health. MIDIS II shows that in 7 per cent of Roma families surveyed across eight EU States,²⁰ at least one person had gone to bed hungry four or more times in the preceding month. This increased to 17 per cent of Roma

families in Croatia, 13 per cent in Greece and 11 per cent in Hungary. On average, every third Roma child had faced hunger at least once in the preceding month in Bulgaria, Croatia, Czechia, Greece, Hungary, Romania, Slovakia and Spain.

According to the Country Reports of the FSCG [Fresno et al, 2019.01], data from some countries show high percentages of Roma children vulnerable to undernutrition because of lack of food, especially those living in marginalized communities. The Irish Country Report, for instance, states that 50 per cent of Roma households do not always have enough food and that cases of malnutrition are reported by service providers among young Roma children. Data from Belgium show that higher percentages of Roma children go to school without breakfast. This clearly indicates family poverty but not necessarily malnutrition, as children may be receiving breakfast at school due to their disadvantaged status. On the other hand, FSCG 2019 demonstrates that in Hungary, while the percentage of Roma children in settlements going to bed hungry daily or frequently is low, it is still higher for Roma children than for the general child population – 2.5 times higher for Roma children aged 11 and 1.5 times higher for those aged 13.

The results of the FRA 2020 survey in six Western European countries show unacceptably high rates of adults and children 'going to bed hungry' at least once in the previous month. In Sweden, every fifth Roma and Traveller, including their children (22 per cent), say that they went to bed hungry at least once in the last month. Rates are also high in Belgium (15 per cent of Roma and 13 per cent of caravan dwellers surveyed), France and Ireland (10 per cent of the Travellers surveyed in both countries).

9. Early childhood education

Lack of access to pre-primary education widens achievement gaps and restricts opportunities, while quality early childhood education (ECE) generates a positive learning sequence. Children who miss out on ECE tend to fall behind in their schooling at a young age and often never catch up, perpetuating cycles of underachievement and high **dropout** rates. ECE is therefore an essential means of providing Roma children with a start in life equal to that of their non-Roma peers and breaking the cycle of intergenerational transmission of poverty. From its inception in 2005, the Decade of Roma Inclusion set a target of at least two years of high-quality preschool education for each Roma child, and UNICEF has been a consistent advocate of including ECE within the EU Roma Framework. The EC's communication [EC, 2011.02] of 17 February 17 2011, on early childhood education and care (ECEC) stated that "although their needs are greater, participation rates of Roma children in ECEC are significantly lower than for the native [sic] population, and expanding these opportunities is a key policy challenge across the EU". It also explicitly highlighted the key role that ECE can play in overcoming the educational disadvantage faced by Roma children.

Recognizing the value of ECE, most European countries had, by 2014, committed themselves to providing an ECE place for all children, either by establishing a legal entitlement to ECE or by making attendance compulsory for at least the last pre-primary year. [EACEA, 2014] However, very few countries ensured that such universal programmes increased Roma children's access and opportunity

to benefit, although several member States did implement Roma-targeted actions in ECE as part of their NRIS. The EU benchmark [EC, 2020.02] of 95 per cent of children above 4 years old attending early childhood education and care (ECEC) has been achieved, but for Roma children, the figure only reached an average of 53 per cent across Europe. Although the MIDIS II results show an increase in absolute numbers in all countries except Portugal and Romania since 2011, the ECE participation rates for Roma children still fall short of the EU benchmark, except in Spain (95 per cent) and Hungary (91 per cent). They are also far below the general population rates in most countries – 28 per cent in Greece, 32 per cent in Croatia, 34 per cent in Czechia and Slovakia, 38 per cent in Romania and 42 per cent in Portugal. FRA 2020 findings indicate that in Western Europe, only two out of three Roma and Traveller children between the age of 4 and the start of compulsory schooling participate in ECE.

Even in countries where kindergarten or preschool is compulsory and free, Roma children have difficulties in accessing it because of the physical distance to the nearest school or the school's refusal to enrol them due to discriminatory attitudes. In Germany and France, Roma children have been refused entry into kindergartens, despite being entitled to ECE. The RCM reports from these two countries link such incidents to anti-Roma prejudice. The low capacity of ECE facilities negatively affects the employment opportunities of parents, especially mothers, and thus reinforces family poverty. The RCM country reports also show that the school readiness of Roma children who have not received any preschool or ECEC is low when they enter primary school.

Financial barriers are the greatest and most recurrent challenge to accessing ECE identified in the RCM reports. Even in those countries where no tuition fees are requested for ECE from the age of 3, there is inconsistent financial support for meals, transportation and other costs. Programmes that eliminate all fees or reduce fees depending on the level of the family's disadvantage are present in all countries, and programmes exist to support the enrolment of disadvantaged children. But most of them do not sufficiently challenge financial, social and information barriers in accessing education, and so disadvantaged Roma and other groups do not have equal opportunity to access quality ECEC.

While ECE has proved itself to be an important mechanism to begin to address social exclusion and marginalization for Roma communities, it cannot by itself provide the required improvement in Roma children's health, welfare and development. Full social inclusion of Roma children in European societies requires access to ECE to be complemented with simultaneous provision of a range of measures that combat poverty, improve health, promote tolerance of Roma communities and address the pervasive prejudice and institutional discrimination that Roma children both witness and experience every day.²¹

10. Education: Access, quality and inclusion

In 2011, the EC defined access to education as a core NRIS theme. Since then, reviews and evaluations have consistently recognized it as a popular area of intervention for member States and the most successful area in terms of achieving positive change. MIDIS II data indicate that by 2016, Roma enrolment in basic education had reached 93 per cent, with 86 per cent of those children in age-appropriate classes. The equivalent enrolment figure was only 30 per cent at higher secondary level;

and 2 per cent in university or third-level education. By 2020, Roma enrolment rates in compulsory education in most member States have reached similar, but not the same, levels as the rest of the population. Roma enrolment rates still remain below that of the general population, and Roma constitute a significant proportion of every European country's non-enrolled children. [Korver, 2020]

However, while the overall increase in formal enrolment in compulsory education is welcome, significant gaps remain between Roma and non-Roma children in attendance, participation and completion rates. MIDIS II data indicate that half of Roma young people between 6 and 24 years of age do not attend school at all and that of those who do, 18 per cent are in a class lower than the one corresponding to their age. This may be because they repeated classes, started school later or both. Existing universal measures to tackle school dropout are not reaching Roma students. FRA 2020 indicates that school attendance for compulsory schooling reaches 91 per cent among Roma on average, but RCMs show that early school leaving affects around one third of Roma children in Western European EU member States so that only two thirds of Roma and Travellers aged 18–24 years have completed lower secondary education.

Although the number of Roma pupils across Europe leaving education at the secondary school level decreased from 87 per cent in 2011 to 68 per cent in 2016, that is still a very high percentage compared with the general population. [Korver, 2020] In 2022 the average share of people aged 20-24 years with at least an upper secondary education was 83.6 per cent within the EU, which means that almost 85 per cent of young Europeans had transited to higher-secondary education [Eurostat, 2022], while less than one third (30 per cent) of Roma children had done so. Obviously, the point of transition from basic to upper-secondary education is a flashpoint for losing Roma young people from the education system. RCMs indicate that there is a lack of incentive for Roma students to continue their education, and so the timing around leaving school tends to be heavily influenced by countries' regulations on compulsory school age or grade level.

Family poverty is a major factor in Roma young people's decisions around irregular attendance, grade repetition, dropout and early leaving, as well as their awareness of their low employment prospects and practical calculations of the relative value of education in terms of increased employment opportunities. Their awareness of discrimination in the labour market and of the limited value of some vocational education courses inevitably influences their decision to leave early. For girls, teachers' expectations, negative school experiences and social position lead to gendered outcomes that further reduce their educational and career aspirations. Male students typically enter the labour force via low-paid work in male-dominated work areas, while female students continue with household labour or enter female-dominated industries, which are even more poorly paid.

With respect to early leavers from secondary or vocational training education, the gap between Roma and non-Roma declined between 2011 and 2016, but with an average 68 per cent dropout rate among Roma, much progress is still needed. [Korver, 2020] MIDIS II shows that the NEET rate for young Roma is 63 per cent on average, compared with 12 per cent of the general population of the same age group in the 28 EU member States.²² The results show a substantial gender gap, with 72 per cent of Roma women aged 16 to 24 years in neither work nor education, compared with 55 per cent of young Roma men. There are programmes in most EU member States to support the participation of socially disadvantaged groups and individuals in vocational education, but the RCMs indicate that measures targeted at Roma are limited. RCM figures on participation of Roma in higher education generally align with MIDIS II findings that less than 1 per cent of Roma have graduated from university, and FRA 2020 concluded that the number of Roma and Travellers in Western Europe who completed

tertiary education is extremely small and statistically invisible. [Bhabha et al, 2018] Yet the dire state of university enrolment and completion by Roma young people has not been reflected in member States' NRIS or other policy or programme initiatives.

The significant gaps between Roma enrolment and completion rates indicate that **insufficient attention** has been paid to providing Roma children of all ages with relevant, enjoyable and quality schooling and that, as a result, Roma children's experience of education remains overwhelmingly negative. This has implications not just for the individual child's prospects in life but for the whole social effort towards Roma inclusion and towards destroying the intergenerational cycle of poverty in which so many Roma families are trapped. Roma children's experience of school is blighted by two discrete but linked sets of handicaps – deprivation and discrimination – that combine to impede the child's educational achievements and sour their school experience. Many deprived children are caught in a loop whereby they struggle at school and their parents struggle to support them. In many schools, Roma children also have to endure active prejudice, discrimination, harassment and even violence. Bullying of Roma children by non-Roma peers is widespread. Almost one third (30 per cent) of the Roma and Traveller parents interviewed during FRA 2020 say that their children have been verbally harassed at school because they are Roma or Travellers. The Irish authorities note that many Roma and Traveller children hide their identity. [Pavee Point, 2018.02]

One of the most insidious and damaging forms of discrimination that Roma school children face is teachers' low expectations of Roma students and their belief in Roma's lack of interest in education. In a 2019 survey of 117 Roma university students and graduates supported by the Roma Education Fund, the majority identified teachers' low expectations of students' success as one of the main challenges they had to overcome in following their aspirations for higher education, and highlighted teachers' lack of faith in the motivations, learning capabilities and trustworthiness of both Roma students and parents. [Torotcoi and Pecak, 2019]

Segregated education has long been recognized as poor educational practice and is banned under European law. Nevertheless, prejudice and bias from teachers, non-Roma parents and the general public plays a huge part in perpetuating this detrimental manifestation of discrimination against children. FRA reported that in 2016, the average proportion of Roma attending classes in which 'all classmates are Roma' increased from 10 per cent in 2011 to 15 per cent in 2016. [FRA, 2018.01] The EC estimate for 2016 was that 13 per cent of Roma children between 6 and 15 years of age were attending all-Roma schools, and a further 13 per cent were attending all-Roma classes. Meanwhile, 33 per cent were attending schools, and 31 per cent were attending classes, where most students were Roma. [EC, 2019]

FSCG [2020] observes that Roma children are at higher risk of enrolment in special education programmes and even special education schools for children with disabilities in Belgium, Bulgaria, Czechia, Hungary, Lithuania, Poland, Slovenia and Slovakia. Likewise, the RCM syntheses report that the segregation of Roma into separate schools, as well as separate classes, is still widespread across EU member States, while other factors contributing to the emergence of monoethnic education include the streaming of Roma students into special schools; denial of enrolment; the placing of migrant Roma outside of general classes; and particularly 'white flight' – large-scale decline in non-Roma enrolment in schools attended by Roma students. [Hojsík and Fremlová, 2018: pp. 30–39] Segregation happens in many different ways, but it is frequently the result of non-Roma parents' reactions to the enrolment of Roma children – reactions which, in turn, stem from fears and prejudices about the Roma students' health status or their impact on the quality of the teaching.

Roma children in 2015

A look at the findings on health, housing, employment and education would suggest that for young Roma, the Decade, along with the EU Roma Framework, and the EU 2020 Agenda for inclusive growth must seem like a joke in the worst possible taste. National governments, who have ratified the legally binding Convention on the Rights of the Child, stand accused of failing, and on the evidence contained in the Decade monitoring reports, continue to fail in their obligations toward millions of Roma children right across Europe. ... [When it comes to the rights and wellbeing of Roma children, the stark gap between rhetoric and realization is an affront that should (but does not) inspire outrage and indignation among all right-minded citizens.] ... As UNICEF put it, Roma children in all countries across Europe remain at risk of systematic violation of their rights, reflected in severe poverty, social marginalization, discrimination, and the denial of equal access to services and of equal opportunities in society. As it was at the beginning in 2005, sadly so it seems to be at the end of the Decade of Roma Inclusion. ... Clearly the Decade did not (indeed it could not) deliver the kind of social transformations required to lift millions out of poverty, undo centuries of exclusion, and eliminate popular prejudice and structural discrimination. But it did set a necessary, audacious and public agenda: identifying key inclusion policy priorities, insisting on the need to set clear targets with earmarked resources within fixed time limits; tracking progress with regular and robust monitoring mechanisms and ... structured Roma participation. ... [But] by the Decade end, there is at least wide recognition that Roma exclusion is one of Europe's biggest democratic deficits, ethically repugnant and economically unsustainable; a recognition that has translated into the EU Framework, with no illusions of the enormity of the task that lies ahead ... [but] a far deeper understanding of what is at stake and what it will take to undo the damage done in order to fulfil the promises of democracy for all of Europe's Roma citizens.

- Adapted from Rorke [2015]

Educational segregation has a significant long-term negative impact on all children. Not only does it confirm and reinforce existing prejudice, but it deprives both Roma and non-Roma children of their right to enjoy the positive experience of quality education as guaranteed by Article 29 of the Convention. It perpetuates a discriminatory, unequal, unfair and low-quality education system, and it robs children of precious life opportunities. Even worse, it erodes Roma children's sense of self-worth and self-confidence by making explicit their exclusion from wider society in a very concrete and child-specific way.

11. Child protection

Roma children tend to feature prominently and disproportionally in European child rights literature around international child protection indicators.²³ These indicators include statelessness due to exclusion from birth registration; [ERRC, 2017.02; ISI, 2017] child marriage; [Byrne, 2013.01; NGO Atina, 2015; UNICEF, 2017] child labour; [Healy et al, 2012; Save the Children, 2012] child trafficking; [Dimitrova et al, 2015; EC, 2021.01] and children in migration.[Cahn, 2010] There are no European statistics on Roma children

in detention, but evidence from Ireland shows that Traveller children there are overrepresented in child detention. During the first quarter of 2019, 19 per cent of children in Oberstown Detention Campus were members of the Traveller community. [Children's Rights Alliance, 2020].

Studies on Roma children in high-risk situations highlight Roma children's disproportionate appearance in these categories and clearly lay the blame on family poverty, social exclusion and discrimination, rather than on family dysfunction, community norms or traditional lifestyles.

A 2011 ERRC study evidenced the significant overrepresentation of Romani children in public care – mainly institutional care – in Bulgaria, Czechia, Hungary, Italy, Romania and Slovakia. [ERRC, 2011.02] An independent study from 2014 confirms this pattern, not just across these seven EU member States but also in Poland, Spain and the United Kingdom.²⁴ [Brown et al, 2014] Brown argues that there may well be a good case for the development of Roma specific care leaver support strategies in the future, given the overrepresentation of Roma children in public care systems in all 10 countries and the widespread discrimination that Roma continue to face. There is, of course, an even stronger case to be made for a strategy that keeps Roma and Traveller children out of care in the first place.

A 2021 ruling by the Metropolitan Court in Budapest found not only that Roma children were disproportionately represented in public care institutions but also that they had been discriminated against in the assessment process on the grounds of their socio-economic status, poverty and Romani ethnicity. The majority of Roma children in public care in Hungary had been taken from their families due to their financial situation, rather than because of any real concern about abuse or neglect. Sadly, this reflects a Europe-wide situation. Some child protection authorities may have developed equitable and effective measures to support Roma children, ²⁵ but the research evidence indicates that institutional bias, combined with a limited understanding of Roma family life, more often leads to a confused, ineffective response by national child protection agencies. In some cases, these agencies may even be actively complicit with actions and initiatives that are clearly not in the best interests of the children concerned. There is an urgent need to undertake independent case reviews and best interest assessments²⁶ of all Roma children in institutional care in all Council of Europe States and to establish concrete measures to return inappropriately placed children to their families and communities.

The most common triggers for placement of Roma children in institutions are family poverty, inadequate housing and/or non-attendance at school. All European national governments have developed a range of options to support families facing these practical difficulties. The question that then arises is why these options are not made more available to Roma families in order to avoid placing a child in institutional care, which is universally acknowledged to be the least desirable outcome. Too often, Roma children in difficulty are offered a default choice between continued poverty at home or family separation, and this runs completely counter to both the spirit and the letter of the Convention.

Despite the acknowledged vulnerability of Roma children, there is a noticeable scarcity of quality research into their protection needs, and with so few responses documented, it is difficult to assess the relevance, effectiveness or efficiency of national child protection responses to Roma children. Unfortunately, the research available indicates that children from Roma communities across Europe have faced ongoing and entrenched marginalization when in contact with the public care system. Indeed, it suggests that social services and child protection agencies across Europe have failed to support Roma families in times of crisis and, far from challenging the social exclusion of vulnerable Roma children, have often contributed to it. The evidence is not confined to Central and Eastern

European institutions; it raises questions, too, about the relevance, effectiveness, independence and bias of child protection policies, practice and professionals during evictions, deportation and returns from France, Germany and Italy, and during the inappropriate removal of Roma children from their carers in Greece, Ireland, Sweden, the United Kingdom and other EU member States.

A 2015 study from Sweden [Swedish Ministry of Culture, 2015] starkly illustrates a long history of child protection authorities misusing alleged 'concerns' for Roma and Traveller children as a form of social control over many decades. Moreover, the RCM reports indicate that this is still happening across Europe. [Ryder, 2020] A number of the RCM reports, most notably those from Croatia, Germany, Hungary and Sweden, reference Roma families being threatened with loss of parental rights – and, in some cases, actually having their children taken into care – as a result of institutions' lack of understanding of, or sympathy for, Roma families. The Swedish RCM report, in particular, provides detailed insights into the misunderstanding, lack of cultural awareness and distrust demonstrated by child protection personnel. This leaves Roma families at a disadvantage when trying to convey their views during the assessment process, where decisions are taken about whether to take children into care. It recognizes that "Roma women in particular live with the stress of a latent fear of having their children taken away based on external judgements and regulations that they feel they have no control over or insight into".

In Italy, courts have pre-emptively suspended parental authority and removed a child soon after birth on the basis that once taken home to the camp, the child would be used for begging. [ERRC, 2011.02] Unfortunately, these incidents demonstrate that anti-Roma prejudice, discrimination and bias is just as entrenched in European social services and child protection systems, structures and personnel as it is in other service delivery agencies. The justified mistrust of social workers felt by many Roma parents is a major barrier to Roma children's realization of their rights, and it will have to be acknowledged and addressed before there can be any progress in the welfare of Roma women and children. For instance, 40 per cent of Traveller respondents in the All-Ireland Traveller Health Study reported that the lack of respect they received from social services made them reluctant to disclose domestic violence for fear of triggering an inappropriate response. [Kelleher et al, 2010]

Roma experience of social services in Sweden

All Travellers I know are afraid of the public authorities. We've all had bad experiences with the child welfare board. We felt constantly threatened and controlled. What we were most afraid of was that the child welfare board would take us and put us in a children's home or foster home. My siblings and I have been taken into care at various times. The public authorities made decisions over the heads of parents and children; we couldn't influence their decision-making at all. The relationship with the public authorities was not on our terms. We had no idea that we could demand better housing or help from the poor relief board. We did what we could to keep the public authorities away from us, and my childhood fear of the public authorities has stuck with me to this day. That fear of the public authorities, the social services in particular, is strong even today.

- Stig-Ove Lundahl, respondent in Swedish Ministry of Culture [2015: p. 100]

The mistrust and suspicion between Roma families and social work authorities, and the history of institutionalized prejudice and mistreatment from which they have arisen, make it challenging to develop mutually beneficial relationships of trust and positive communication. Yet, to date, no international or

European body has undertaken a Europe-wide multi-country audit of national child protection systems in order to identify barriers and bottlenecks to Roma children's access to quality child protection services as guaranteed by the Convention. Research is clearly needed in relation to Roma perspectives on, and experiences of, formal child protection systems. There may have been individual country reviews, but a comprehensive evaluation is still required in all jurisdictions across Europe and at a pan-European level. Ideally, this would be linked to the development of Roma-sensitive social work practice and the introduction of Roma perspectives into child protection professional training.

Research conducted in the United Kingdom has identified two conflicting risks in the difficult relationship between social workers and Roma communities – (1) the overinvolvement of social workers, resulting in children being taken into care unnecessarily; and (2) ignorance of Roma and Traveller issues, leading to the needs of vulnerable children being left unmet. [Power, 2004; Cemlyn, 2013; MacLennan et al, 2017; Dauti et al, 2018]

Social services departments in various countries are trying to make more use of Roma foster parents, but the focus needs to be on preventing children from coming into public care at all. [Krčar and Laklija, 2018] Generally, work to strengthen child protection systems builds on communities' own informal protection mechanisms. Yet very little research has been undertaken to establish what these are for Roma children or how Roma families care for each other. There is also a scarcity of research on Roma children in other at-risk situations – for example those who are in detention, in conflict with the law or affected by disability.

The fact remains, however, that Roma children in every European State are undoubtedly vulnerable to abuse and exploitation due to the poverty, discrimination and deprivation that they endure. They therefore need, and deserve, the support and protection that should be available to them from national child protection agencies. Child protection agencies remain under moral and legal obligations to offer genuine support and protection to Roma children, and most need to urgently review and revise their policies and practices to meet their responsibilities. The available evidence would seem to indicate that a new Roma-sensitive model of child protection is required that respects the rights of both families and children and draws on the strengths and abilities of their communities to support Roma families to meet the best interests of their children.

Despite its more child-centred approach, the EU Roma Strategic Framework 2020–2030 [EC, 2020.01] has still not accepted social welfare or child protection as thematic areas. There is therefore a risk that children's issues will remain underrepresented in country NRIS and that national governments will continue to consider Roma children's issues solely in relation to education. [Hojsík et al, 2020] The EU Strategy on the Rights of the Child, [EC, 2021.02] adopted in March 2021, together with the European Child Guarantee, [Fresno et al, 2019.01; Frazer et al, 2020] will probably act as the primary European framework for policy and practice initiatives to protect Roma children and help them fulfil their rights. The European Child Guarantee could provide a good framework for action on Roma children's rights, provided that the strategies developed within it recognize that structural discrimination is *the* core factor in Roma child poverty and that access to child protection is just as essential for Roma children as access to health, education and welfare.

Whatever framework is chosen, addressing the massive ongoing violations of Roma children's rights in Europe requires a critical realignment of the current child protection model. There needs to be a shift towards a stronger anti-discrimination model of work that challenges social institutions'

current working practices and approaches and seeks adaptation and realignment of their policies and practices to enable them to meet their responsibilities to Roma families. It will need to prioritize working in tandem with Roma communities to challenge the institutional racism and antigypsyist practice that continue to bar Roma children's access to their rights.

More than any other vulnerable child population, Roma children are affected by the wide knowledge gap that exists between social service personnel and their community. This is due in large part to a lack of awareness of any alternative, positive Roma-led narrative of Roma family life. This needs to be addressed quickly, together with a shift by child rights researchers towards conducting more Roma-led assessments²⁷ that give voice to Roma families' experiences of school, care and health, and protection systems; their analyses of the structural barriers to their children's full development; and their practical suggestions on how to address these barriers. There is also an urgent need to undertake a Europe-wide review of national family welfare and child protection systems as they relate to Roma children, preferably supplemented by a comprehensive examination of grass-roots child protection mechanisms in Roma communities.

The Metropolitan Court ruling in Budapest provides a simple and stark illustration of only one of the vast number of injustices that tens of thousands of Roma children have to endure daily. **No child** anywhere on the European continent should have to endure unnecessary separation from their family. Civilized nations should be responding to the Budapest judgement now by taking measures to ensure that current inappropriate placements are redressed and future placements avoided.

12. Migration

Although there are autochthonous Roma communities in every European State except Malta, many non-Roma still consider mobility to be an inherent feature of Roma lifestyle. This false narrative of nomadic Roma has fed into anti-Roma prejudices in western societies, distorted perceptions of the actual dimensions of Roma migration and created irrational fears of a 'tidal wave of Gypsies'. There is no actual evidence that Roma migration from Eastern Europe is higher than average migration rates from Eastern Europe [Cahn and Guild, 2010] or that there has been a rush of Roma from poorer countries in Southern Europe to their wealthier northern neighbours. The actual figures for Roma migration remain unknown, distorted by a superficial public impression of an increased Romani presence in Western Europe. This, in turn, has been fostered by antigypsyist hate speech misrepresenting the nature of Roma migration, which often includes extended families. This migration model is undoubtedly better from the child's perspective, but the arrival of Roma migrant families may come across as a large and sudden influx, compared to non-Roma migrants who arrive individually or in small numbers. Non-Roma reaction to Roma migrants usually combines traditional prejudice against Roma with rising public antipathy to migrants generally, building on communal perceptions of both as problems and threats to the existing order, rather than as potential resources and contributors to the common good.

The false narrative of inherent Roma nomadism has enabled conditionality around migration status to gradually insert itself as a dominant feature of policy development and programme planning around

Roma children, whether appropriate or not. For instance, although the 'Feasibility Study for a Child Guarantee: Intermediate Report' [Frazer et al, 2020] promotes a holistic child rights-based approach, the 'Target Group Discussion Paper on Children Living in Precarious Family Situations' [Fresno et al, 2019.01] seems to emphasize the legal status of Roma children rather than their entitlements under the Convention, dividing Roma families between domestic Roma with long-term residence or citizenship in a member State; Roma EU nationals moving between EU countries; and migrant Roma from third countries outside the EU. Undoubtedly, legal status is an important factor influencing the delivery mode of child and family welfare and protection services; however, prioritizing this only for Roma children plays to a false narrative of Roma 'otherness' and weakens their claim of equal entitlement to all rights as outlined in Article 2 of the Convention. Under the Convention, governments' responsibilities to children do not fluctuate – their responsibility is to all children residing on their territory, regardless of legal or migration status.

The Committee on the Rights of the Child, at its day of general discussion on the rights of the child in the context of international migration in 2012, emphasized the need to adopt the position that "a child is first and foremost a child, whatever the condition he or she may find himself or herself in". [CRC, 2012] This stipulation was renewed and reinforced in a joint statement issued in 2017 by the Committee on the Rights of the Child and the Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families. [Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2017]

The tendency to frame policy discussion in terms of children's legal status, rather than individual or community needs, potential or rights, acts to conceal their humanity. It leaves Roma refugee and migrant children constantly portrayed as 'legal problems' rather than as sons, daughters, neighbours and friends – perhaps with particular difficulties just now but also with enormous potential and willingness to contribute positively to their community and society. While clear, explicit definition of rights and entitlements can undoubtedly benefit Roma migrant and asylum-seeking children, a framework that equates entitlement with legal status is likely only to delay families' integration and undermine their independence. It is also unlikely to facilitate the kind of holistic, child-centred approach promoted by the Convention.

Roma families tend to migrate for much the same reasons as other European citizens – to improve their quality of life. But the myth of Roma 'transience' is used by local authorities and non-Roma communities to 'justify' denial of entitlements as well as provision of second-rate services and facilities, like the 'temporary nomad settlements' in Italy, and unconstitutional and illegal action against Roma families. European States have, on a number of occasions, resorted to expulsion – individual and collective – including exclusion and expulsion of Roma from another EU State. In 2002, Belgium was found to be in violation of a European Court of Human Rights ban on the collective expulsion of aliens after it lured a group of Slovak Roma into police detention and then expelled them to Slovakia. [Cahn and Guild, 2010]

In late 2007, Switzerland collectively expelled Romanian Roma, with little or no effort to conceal the racial profiling element of these expulsions. The most highly publicized of such acts have been those carried out by the Italian Government in 2007 and 2008, and by the French Government between 2009 and 2011. [Cahn and Guild, 2010] It was reported that as of the end of December 2007, more than 1,000 persons had been expelled from Italy, with at least 1,000 Roma homes having been destroyed in Rome alone and the inhabitants evicted by the Italian authorities. These included both migrant and Italian Roma. [Cahn and Guild, 2010]

In the EU, migrant families, including Roma, tend to fall into one of three legal categories that assign different levels of entitlement to residence, employment and health care – (1) EU nationals moving within the EU; (2) migrants from third countries outside the EU, such as the Western Balkans and Türkiye; and (3) undocumented migrants. The rights granted to migrant EU nationals are the most farreaching and comprehensive; the entitlements of most third country migrants are more restricted; and **undocumented** (or irregular) migrant status offers least protection to children. Only eight EU member States grant undocumented migrant children legal entitlement to the same level of health care as the children of its own citizens – Estonia, France, Greece, Italy, Portugal, Romania, Spain and Sweden – while six others – Bulgaria, Cyprus, Finland, Lithuania, Luxembourg and the Slovak Republic – totally restrict their entitlements to emergency care only. Twelve EU States facilitate irregular migrants' limited access to primary and secondary health services, mainly to specialist services like maternity care, diagnosis and treatment of HIV and/or infectious diseases. [Spencer and Hughes, 2015; Keith and LeVoy, 2018].

Unfortunately, even when Roma meet the criteria for resident status, it can be difficult for them to evidence their entitlement for lack of appropriate documentation – rent books, payslips, tax returns, etc. The difficulties Roma families face in obtaining birth certificates or other documents in many countries are widely known. As a result, many more Roma than non-Roma families slip into undocumented migrant status. [Cahn and Guild, 2010; ERRC, 2017.02; ISI, 2017] Also, service providers at local level do not always distinguish between Roma families, regardless of what papers they hold, and some national authorities have, at times, claimed that they are unable to distinguish among Roma. For instance, in the course of proceedings before the European Committee of Social Rights, the Italian Government argued that it is impossible to distinguish between (1) Italian citizen Roma; (2) Roma who are citizens of other Parties to the European Social Charter; and (3) Roma who would not enjoy European Social Charter rights – i.e. citizens of a State which is not a Party to the European Social Charter – for the purposes of the application of Article 31 of the Charter, the right to housing. [Cahn and Guild, 2010]

Nevertheless, while migration status can affect the mode of delivery of services, it does not override children's entitlements under the Convention. Roma and migrant children, whatever their ethnicity or legal status, are entitled to adequate shelter and access to quality health, education, welfare and child protection services; and national governments in Europe are obliged to provide these, for however long the child is in country. National child protection agencies have responsibility under international and European law to facilitate full access to these services for all children and to monitor, oversee and protect full realization of their rights, including during migration. A child rights approach cannot be confined or constrained by the migration status of children or their families; instead, it needs to focus on ensuring accessible, affordable, quality services to all children at all stages of their life and protecting children from risk, whatever their legal status.

The aspirations of all migrants encapsulate economic opportunity but also "greater confidence in the capacity of government authorities to protect human rights, ensure the rule of law, and promote tolerance and understanding within the society-at-large". [Matras, 2000] This latter element is particularly relevant to Roma, whose history of exclusion, disadvantage and persecution loosens their confidence in their country of origin. Roma families' understandable reluctance to trust representatives and institutions of their home country, and their experience of persecution or threatened persecution, are undoubtedly factors that push many Roma families to migrate, and justifiably so.

13. Asylum

Even within the asylum system, the same false distinctions between Roma and non-Roma children abound, and thousands of children's lives are put at risk by the application of double standards for Roma and non-Roma refugees fleeing war, conflict and disaster. During the Yugoslav wars, tens of thousands of Roma families had to seek asylum in European countries after facing threats from extremists on one or both sides of the ethnic divide. [Perić and Demirovski, 2000; Đorđević, 2013] In just one instance, an estimated 8,000 Roma men, women and children had to flee their homes in Kosovo when, in 1999, a Kosovan mob burned the Mitrovica Roma Mahala. [Rorke, 2016] Altogether, it is estimated that 50,000 Roma moved from Kosovo to Germany alone, after finding themselves under pressure from armed militias. [Knauss and Widdmann, 2010] Yet they were consistently denied the same welcome as non-Roma refugees. Matras notes that 1992 and 1993 saw blockades preventing the arrival of Roma asylum seekers in Germany; armed 'brigades' stopping Roma refugees in France and Germany; and an organized mob attacking Roma at a residence for asylum seekers in Rostock. [Matras, 2000; Sardelic, 2017]. Alboth argues that 100,000 Roma refugees from the war in Ukraine are facing the same prejudice and hostility today. [Alboth, 2022]

Despite incidents like this, the United Nations High Commission for Refugees (UNHCR) declared in 2000 that while it is beyond dispute that Roma in Central and Eastern Europe are frequent victims of discrimination and, on occasion, incidents of violence, conditions in these countries do not warrant the recognition of asylum claims on a prima facie basis. Applications must be assessed individually to establish if the treatment experienced either amounts to or creates a reasonable fear of persecution in the context of the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees. Quoting the *UNHCR Handbook on Procedures and Criteria for Determining Refugee Status*, it offers some guidance on the standard to be applied in discrimination cases: "Differences in the treatment of various groups do indeed exist to a greater or lesser extent in many societies. Persons who receive less favourable treatment as a result of such differences are not necessarily victims of persecution. It is only in certain circumstances that discrimination will amount to persecution. This would be so if measures of discrimination lead to consequences of a substantially prejudicial nature for the person concerned, e.g. serious restrictions on his right to earn a livelihood, his right to practise his religion, or his access to normally available educational facilities." [UNHCR, 2000]

Persecution may also result where the discriminatory measures are not serious but are cumulative.

These criteria would certainly seem to have applied to most Roma families seeking asylum from the various Yugoslav conflicts, and they still apply to many Roma families throughout Europe today. Yet, for the most part, Roma families were granted a lesser protection status, making their integration into their host society even more difficult. They were also returned more quickly and in greater numbers, often without adequate preparation. The United Nations Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Internally Displaced Persons noted in 2005 that Roma, Ashkali and Egyptian Internally Displaced Persons had been settled on "highly contaminated land" in Kosovo. Although it took until October 2010 to get these camps closed, returns continued apace. [Rorke, 2016]

Local agencies put the number of asylum seekers returned to Serbia as high as 10,000 annually between 2008 and 2013. Of those returnees, about 70 per cent were Roma; [Byrne, 2013.01] of the child returnee population, 89 per cent were Roma. [Save the Children, 2012] According to local

NGOs, around 80 per cent of returnees lived in informal Roma settlements without basic sanitation and 62 per cent of the children did not continue schooling after their return. [Byrne, 2013.01] In Montenegro in 2012, there were 4,312 people still stateless as a result of the Yugoslav wars, of whom more than half (2,226) were children and less than 1 per cent were non-Roma. [Byrne and Razic Ilic, 2015] The majority of displaced families were living in settlements like Konik camp, outside Podgorica, with inadequate health, sanitation and housing conditions and no education or protection services. Studies in 2014 and 2015 found that three quarters of Roma, Ashkali and Egyptian children returned from Germany to Kosovo were not attending school due to language barriers, missing school certificates and/or family poverty. Many were unregistered, lacked civil documents and were de facto stateless. [COE, 2014; STP, 2015] The same situation is likely to arise for thousands of Ukrainian Roma refugee children if appropriate action is not taken soon.

Since the 1990s, European countries have expelled tens of thousands of asylum-seeking Roma children to the countries of the former **Yugoslavia**. While there are no data to compare Roma and non-Roma outcomes of asylum applications and/or returns at that time, it is notable that considerable numbers of Roma children and families have been rendered stateless and impoverished by these processes, and that, 15 years after the final Balkan war, thousands of Roma children scattered across the republics of the former Yugoslavia still lacked basic documentation, leaving their status uncertain, unresolved and vulnerable. Many Roma children who were not even alive at the time of the conflict are non-persons in the eyes of the authorities today, effectively deprived of the basic right to claim rights. [Rorke et al, 2017]

There is still no comparative analysis of asylum applications or decisions relating to Roma and non-Roma. However, the research available indicates that discrimination and violence are still driving Roma families to asylum in Europe and implies that European asylum processes are still judging Roma asylum applications by different standards. A 2013 analysis by the European Asylum Support Office found that social problems related to ethnic minorities – discrimination, racial violence and exclusion from services – were the major factor in 80 per cent of asylum applications in Denmark, Hungary, the Netherlands Slovenia, Luxembourg, Austria, Finland and Sweden. [EASO, 2013] The vast majority of ethnic minority applications at that time were from Roma. Research in Germany found that in 2011, 64.8 per cent of Roma asylum applicants in Germany were rejected and that, despite bans on deportation in individual federal states, an increasing number of Roma from Kosovo were deported. [Lechner, 2012]

The available anecdotal and experiential evidence indicate that Roma are still disproportionately represented among what are termed 'failed' asylum applicants or returnees, which seems to imply that the threats of violence that Roma families face daily are not considered sufficient to justify asylum. Not enough consideration seems to be given to the possibility that Roma children's lives are at risk due to antigypsyism and violent hate crimes. This perspective needs to be explored by all protection agencies, and serious consideration should be given to the reinterpretation of basic asylum criteria.

Matras and others have argued that the structure of the asylum procedures puts Roma applicants at a disadvantage. [Matras, 2000] The asylum process is geared towards individual applications, and since Roma often travel in large family groups, they are often perceived to be economic migrants rather than genuinely seeking refuge, even before the hearing starts. The process does not seem to recognize that the very nature of the discrimination they suffer means that Roma will always have

more difficulty producing documents to prove who they are, where they lived and what happened to them in their home country. Then the asylum hearing is always conducted in the state language of the applicant's country of origin, and not in **Romanës**, and the interpreter is almost always a native of that country. In terms of both Romani and eastern European customs, insulting a person's country is likely to do more harm than good, especially when the fate of the applicant depends on this person's mediation. Details of hostilities and human rights violations are therefore often omitted, resulting in the rejection of applications. Moreover, reports by applicants indicate that interpreters have sometimes downplayed reference to anti-Roma events made by the applicants in order to defend the image of their native country.

A further difficulty is that in most Western European States, asylum is based on individual arguments and proof of individual, political persecution. Roma involvement in politics is relatively rare, and anti-Roma hostility tends to be directed at the group, rather than at individuals. Also, asylum panel members may share the common prejudice that anti-Roma hostilities are a 'natural' response to the Roma way of life or may be unduly influenced by negative public responses to Roma asylum seekers in their host country. As a result, asylum applications by Roma are generally unsuccessful. **Asylum procedures urgently need to be reviewed and updated to eliminate bias against Roma applicants and clarify how the existing universal criteria should be interpreted in relation to antigypsyism and hate crimes.**

It is clear that many of the decisions made over the past two decades by European national governments in relation to displaced Roma children have not prioritized the best interests of the child. Moreover, they have often been in clear contravention of Article 3.1 of the Convention, which stipulates that "[i]n all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration". Efforts have continued to resolve these issues and improve the situation and legal status of Roma families. Yet there are still Roma families who have not achieved durable solutions following flight from the Yugoslav conflicts more than 20 years ago, and both Roma rights and child rights actors have failed to mobilize to successfully challenge this chronic violation of children's rights.

14. European response frameworks

The SDGs present one potential framework for supporting, implementing and measuring change for Roma children at local, national and European levels. The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development sets out 17 goals and 169 targets that aim to realize human rights, women's empowerment and social inclusion. [UNGA, 2015] At least 50 targets relate directly to NRIS themes – discrimination, education, employment, health and housing – and UNICEF has identified 44 of 232 global SDG indicators that directly concern children. [UNICEF, 2018]

The EC has recently adopted its EU Strategy on the Rights of the Child, and the European Parliament voted in November 2015 to combat child poverty and social exclusion, and to ensure effective implementation of the 2013 EU Recommendation on Investing in Children through a Child Guarantee.

The EU Strategy on the Rights of the Child and the Child Guarantee are the European frameworks tasked with facilitating a coherent and consistent response to the needs of vulnerable children. The Parliament stipulated that all parts of the Child Guarantee action must follow a child rights-based approach in order to ensure that "every child in Europe at risk of poverty (including refugee children) has access to free healthcare, free education, free childcare, decent housing and adequate nutrition. By covering these five areas of action through European and national action plans one would ensure that the living conditions and opportunities of millions of children in Europe improve considerably and with a long-term perspective". [Frazer et al, 2020]

The Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion commissioned an FSCG to examine the situation of four specific groups of socially vulnerable children that are known to be particularly exposed to poverty and well-being risks – (1) 'Children residing in institutions'; (2) 'Children with disabilities'; (3) 'Children with a migrant background (including refugee children)'; and (4) 'Children living in a precarious family situation'. More specifically, the FSCG explored the access of these groups to five prioritized areas of action – health care, nutrition, early childhood development, education and housing. [Frazer et al, 2020]

Roma children are considered under the target group 'Children living in a precarious family situation', which also includes low-income and low socio-economic status children, children living in single adult households and 'left behind' children of EU-mobile citizens. It seems likely, however, that Roma children are disproportionately represented in all four vulnerability groups when compared with non-Roma European child citizens. There is a strong case to be made for developing a specific Roma child inclusion strategy that cuts across all four target groups.

Given the EU's genuine commitment to and significant investment in Roma inclusion, it is not clear why Roma children were not recognized as a discrete "group of socially vulnerable children that are known to be particularly exposed to poverty and well-being risks", especially in light of FRA's consistent findings that 80 per cent of Roma children in the EU (about 2 million children)²⁸ live below their country's at-risk-of-poverty threshold; that every third Roma family lives in housing without tap water; that one in three Roma families live in a home where someone goes to bed hungry at least once a month; and that 50 per cent of Roma young people aged between 6 and 24 do not attend school. However, the report acknowledges the primary role played by structural discrimination in Roma child deprivation by assigning them only under the label 'social risk factors'.

The Child Guarantee provides a good framework for action, but it needs to be weighted, and strategies flowing from it will need to be able to respond flexibly to different weightings of factors. One way that Roma families may differ significantly from other families in this target group is that Roma precariousness is assigned solely in terms of social risk factors, regardless of household composition or economic status. While appearing to lower their risk factor, this in fact emphasizes the almost unique primacy of external factors and environment in Roma family breakdown, deprivation and poverty, compared with other groups.

Social risk factors are defined as individual or group characteristics or situations that may lead children and their families into precariousness and social exclusion. The Child Guarantee framework posits that entrenched social exclusion results from a combination of interlinked problems, such as unemployment, poor skills, low incomes, poor housing, high-crime environments, bad health and family breakdown. [Duncan and Corner, 2012] **But for Roma families, this cycle of deprivation**

works in reverse – extreme social exclusion due to negative social attitudes and structural discrimination leads to unemployment, poor skills, low income, bad health and family breakdown.

A different set of targeted interventions may therefore be required for Roma families, or interventions may need to be applied differently or at different stages of the cycle. Specific strategies are also likely to be required because the exclusion faced by Roma families has been deep, extensive and intergenerational.

Roma families in 2018

Anti- Gypsyism remains high with one out of three Roma being victims of harassment. Member States need to recognise and monitor anti-Gypsyism and take effective measures to combat such hate crime and hate speech.

Living conditions for EU Roma have not changed much between 2011 and 2016: 80% of Roma are at risk of poverty compared with an EU average of 17%. 30% live in households with no tap water. Their access to safe water is often on a par with people in Ghana or Nepal. Such conditions undermine progress in education, health or employment. This calls for greater efforts on reducing poverty including eliminating segregated housing, better access to public utilities like electricity and water as well as more social housing.

Education has improved in some member States but gaps remain. Over 50% of young Roma children attend early childhood education. This is often much less than non-Roma children their age. As for pre-school education rates, Roma in the EU are similar to the people of Puerto Rico. Member States should provide access to high quality education, learning support to compensate for the poor living conditions of many Roma pupils, as well as targeted support at every stage of their education.

Youth unemployment: The share of young Roma from 16–24, particularly women who are not in employment, education or training remains high compared to the general public. Member States need to boost employment, particularly for young Roma, through on-the-job training, traineeships and apprenticeships, for example. Roma should also receive targeted support to help them set up their own business.

- Michael O'Flaherty, Director, FRA [O'Flaherty, 2018]

Another European framework that will impact on Roma families in the next decade is the EU Roma Strategic Framework 2020-2030. [EC, 2020.01] Since 2011, the European Roma Framework has defined the strategic parameters through which European funding mechanisms have channelled resources to hundreds of measures by State and non-State actors that have brought real benefits to Roma families and communities across 35 European States. It has provided a conceptual framework for planning, implementation, management and monitoring of Roma inclusion initiatives and demonstrated a high standard of rigorous evaluation, open accountability and self-criticism. A metaevaluation of interventions across 30 countries showed positive results in the area of education and, to a lesser extent, in health care. [Fresno et al, 2019.02] Although the European Roma Framework has advanced the concept and practice of Roma participation and strengthened Roma civil society, it has been stymied by the same factors that have blocked other Roma inclusion initiatives – lack

of effective mainstreaming and resistance to adapting public policies to Roma needs due to lack of political will, public prejudice and structured discrimination. A 2018 meta-analysis of the country NRIS also found that issues relating to women and children were consistently underrepresented in country NRIS, and the civil society monitors identified children as a 'blind spot'. [Hojsík et al, 2020; Ryder, 2020]

The EC has moved towards a more child-friendly approach in the new EU Roma Strategic Framework 2020–2030. Through its second objective, it aims to cut child poverty in half, and many sectoral goals have strengthened their relevance to children. Overall, the new framework sets higher success criteria than its predecessor and allows for expansion and extension of expectations, in line with Roma families' aspirations. However, despite these considerable advances, the new framework is neither child-focussed nor rights-oriented. Therefore, although it can and will play a significant part in improving Roma children's lives, it cannot be expected to lead in terms of addressing the many rights violations they face.

15. Lessons learned

enjoying a peaceful, happy and secure childhood.

Similar observations can be drawn from programme evaluations dating back as far as 2003, including the NRIS evaluations, which cover hundreds of actions and initiatives that span the entire European continent, from Ireland to Türkiye and from Greece to Finland. They evidence a similar pattern of exclusion in every European country and justify the need for a pan-European framework of response. There is no indication that Roma children living on the fringes of society in high-income Western European countries are any more protected from prejudice, discrimination, harassment or social exclusion than their peers living on the fringes of Eastern European societies. Wherever they live, Roma children face unfair and unnecessary barriers to realizing their rights, achieving their potential and

Between 2007 and 2013, the EU allocated at least €216 million to pre-accession countries through the IPA to support social inclusion initiatives. Of this, an estimated €150 million was allocated to support (1) Roma-specific interventions explicitly targeting Roma communities; (2) interventions targeting Roma explicitly but not exclusively; and (3) mainstream social inclusion interventions that might reach Roma as any other citizen. A 2015 evaluation [Allen et al, 2016] of 80 Roma-related IPA-funded interventions in eight pre-accession countries²⁹ found that the majority (23 per cent) of IPA I funds allocated for Roma inclusion actually went to facilitating the return of displaced Roma. Less than one fifth (19.9 per cent) was allocated for housing, 13.5 per cent for social inclusion/social services, 13.2 per cent for education and 12.1 per cent for employment. Less than 2 per cent was allocated for anti-discrimination efforts, and less than 1 per cent for specific women/girls or gender projects. The EC acknowledged in 2014 that Roma in the enlargement countries still lived in deep poverty and lacked sufficient access to health care, education, housing and employment. [EC, 2014]

The overall message from evaluations of Roma-related initiatives since 2000 is one of slow progress and uneven results, regardless of the resources invested. They indicate that any improvements for Roma children have been sporadic and have not sufficiently reduced the

gaps between them and their non-Roma peers. Final evaluations consistently reveal limited mainstreaming of proven effective models of intervention, slow institutionalization of good practice and failure by key stakeholders to act on lessons learned. This scattered, project-based approach to Roma child rights issues has inevitably had insufficient impact to sustain the kind of long-term, consistent and coherent advocacy required at national and European level to achieve positive change in this area. Another commonality observed by evaluators is that almost all Roma inclusion initiatives have been insufficiently child-focussed and gender-sensitive. This is most obvious in the exclusion of social welfare and child protection from Roma inclusion frameworks, but all Roma inclusion initiatives have tended to treat children's needs, with the exception of education, as supplemental rather than core issues.

Given that women and children constitute the majority in Roma communities, their marginalization within European inclusion frameworks raises questions about the underlying needs analyses. Many inclusion initiatives continue to reflect general patterns of inequality by downplaying women's and children's entitlements, specific needs and potential contribution to change. This 'child-blind' approach is matched by two noticeable tendencies in the children's sector. One is its propensity to downplay institutional antigypsyism in its programme planning for Roma families; and the second is the failure to sufficiently recognise, acknowledge and address the anti-Roma biases inherent in its own practice and institutions. The child rights sector has a long history of supporting successful projects that have benefited Roma children and their families; overall, however, it has failed in the last two decades to develop and institutionalize models that respect Roma children's lifestyle, traditions, community, ethnicity, culture and individuality as stipulated by Article 2 of the Convention. As a result, millions of European children still live in fear, poverty and hunger just because their home State and non-Roma neighbours refuse to recognize them as equal citizens and innocent children entitled to our support, protection and respect.

Over the past decades, responsibility for realizing child rights for Roma children has fallen between the two stools of Roma inclusion and child protection. Neither sector has taken an institutional lead in promoting Roma child rights and there is no agreed framework within which to work together. Millions of children have suffered as a result. "Roma child" is not a divisible entity or concept, and successful inclusion initiatives, whether they come from a child rights or Roma inclusion perspective, need to respect all elements of children's identities – their age, ethnicity, gender and culture. They also need to work in partnership with children, their families and their communities to redress violations against them, strengthen their protective environment, build their resilience and support them to develop, in their own unique way, their full potential as European citizens.

Most evaluations have commented on the scarcity of appropriate data. The lack of disaggregated data at national level undoubtedly adds difficulty to the development of appropriate policy and programme responses to the needs of Roma children and families. However, the data situation for Roma children seems to be no better nor worse than for many other vulnerable child populations. After extensive trawls of European and national databases, FSCG 2020 provides only estimates – of varying quality, integrity and format – for a range of particularly vulnerable child populations, including Roma children. Roma are, in many ways, over-researched, and a recent mapping of Roma child-related research found that between 2014 and 2017, all 28 EU member States except Luxembourg and Malta, as well as all seven pre-accession countries, had participated in Roma-related research. [Byrne and Szira, 2019] The issue is therefore not so much the quantity of research available but rather its quality, relevance and focus.

The impact and sustainability of programmes would undoubtedly be strengthened by an agreed framework to shape and utilize the Roma child research agenda. This would need to be based on an agreed set of indicators so as to enable national governments to report specifically on progress related to Roma children and facilitate civil society to hold them to account in doing so. Such a framework could facilitate comparison between countries, regions and models. It could also enable ongoing identification of policy, service and research gaps, as well as transfers of good models of practice. But paucity of relevant data is not Roma-specific and, unfortunately, constitutes part of the operating environment for child-focussed policy planners. This is not, however, an excuse for inaction.

One noticeable feature of almost all evaluations since 2000 is the relative absence of the voices of women, children and families, compared with those of other stakeholders. Roma 'civil society' has increasingly contributed to project and programme evaluations, although, outside Roma inclusion frameworks, usually only as junior partners. There are notable exceptions, [Dzeladin and Doda, 2016; Salioska, 2018] but in most evaluations, the voices of ordinary Roma men, women and children – those who have contributed most to project success and are the main drivers of improved Roma child welfare – have been quite muted overall. This deprives all stakeholders of valuable learning about which factors contribute most or least to project success. It also acts to reinforce public and professional stereotypes of Roma as passive recipients of aid and benefits rather than active shapers of their own destiny. The Roma rights sector is relatively well organized in terms of research and advocacy, but, outside of education, its focus on children's issues is limited. Both Roma and child rights advocates need to place greater focus on listening to Roma families and working with them to make their voices heard.

Roma children's voices have been particularly absent. A mapping of 486 Roma child-related studies conducted between 2014 and 2017 found that only about 15 per cent of the total sample attempted any form of child participation. Even among this small subset, the age range of the children involved was excessively narrow, the traditional methodologies used were restrictive and the choice of subject matter was adult-controlled. [Byrne and Szira, 2019] At a time when the EC is moving to mainstream children's rights into all EU policies and funding, it is vital that the opinions of Roma children and adolescents are not just heard but acted on. [Lundy, 2007] Both UNICEF and the EC have piloted successful models of Roma child participation, but scaling these initiatives up will require immediate, concrete and pro-active cooperation between Roma rights and child rights actors across Europe. [Larkin and Bilson, 2016; Young Roma, 2016; Beremenyi et al, 2017]

16. The way forward: A child rights approach to social inclusion

Examining the many framework evaluations and analyses undertaken since 2000 through a child-rights lens raises questions about the strengths and weaknesses of the existing social inclusion approach to Roma children. The current social inclusion model has achieved some real gains for Roma children and families, but it may be close to the limits of its effectiveness. The failure of the existing social inclusion model to achieve its full potential for Roma children does not seem to lie primarily in the technical spheres of programme design, implementation or monitoring; rather, it stems from the model's underestimation of the strength of anti-Roma bias aligned against it, actively and/or passively, within social institutions. To a large extent, the success of the social inclusion model has been constrained – and perhaps even defined - by the boundaries and limits imposed by structural discrimination and public prejudice, and the extent to which inclusion initiatives have either overcome them or, more often, failed to overcome them. During the last two decades, Roma rights and child rights actors have actually developed some successful models to mitigate Roma family poverty and significantly reduce Roma child vulnerability. Yet actors in both sectors have allowed themselves to be constrained in their areas of operation, failed to sufficiently support each other and favoured project development over advocacy. It is perhaps for these reasons that they have proved unable to scale up successful initiatives.

Some of the core questions to be addressed in the next phase relate to how to challenge and overcome institutional barriers to Roma families' full access to services. Others concern ways of ensuring that these proven models of intervention are mainstreamed, that successful initiatives are adopted across Europe and that the lessons learned are applied to previously neglected areas like social welfare reform and child protection. This will require an explicit shift towards a stronger, more assertive anti-discrimination model of child rights work. Such a model will need not only to challenge social institutions' current working practices and approaches but also to demand that they adapt and realign their policies and practices to ensure that they meet their responsibilities to Roma families and prioritize the best interests of Roma children.

At a very basic level, adopting a child rights approach to social inclusion means putting the Convention, rather than European law, at the core of all Roma child-related programming. This should mean setting higher targets for national governments to achieve in relation to Roma children. These targets need to be based on the standards set for all children in the country, be aligned with the principles of the Convention and have a stronger gender focus.³¹ The Convention takes a strong family-based approach that advocates support for families and communities as the primary and optimum means of actualizing children's rights.

For Roma inclusion actors, adopting a child rights approach would involve factoring in more child-centred analysis into thematic programme design and development. This paper would also strongly argue that child protection and social welfare should both be integrated as core elements within the EU Roma Strategic Framework 2020–2030. These statutory services are as vital to overcoming Roma family poverty and discrimination as health, housing, education or employment, and they

are significantly more likely to have immediate impact for children. But child rights actors also need to be challenged to invest more in Roma children. Although Roma exclusion is addressed within general social inclusion programmes, particularly through early childhood development programming, child-focussed organizations have not mainstreamed Roma issues in the same way that they have migration, disability or access to justice. As a result, Roma issues, particularly protection issues, have been marginalized within the generic social inclusion model and Roma child-focussed resources have dwindled.

There are many generic reforms that would greatly improve the lives of Roma children and their families. However, even if these were accomplished, it is likely that Roma would still be disproportionately excluded from benefiting without specific initiatives in every country to facilitate their access. There is an inherent tension in generically inclusive child programming in terms of closing the gap between Roma children and their non-Roma peers. Although whole communities gain from Roma-inclusive projects, non-Roma tend to gain more, with the result that the gap between families can actually expand rather than contract. The overall tenor of the evaluations show that the balance of investment needs to shift towards more direct Roma child-specific action and that a wider range of models needs to be explored, including Roma-led community initiatives.

Along with moving child-related research institutions towards facilitating a more Roma-led model of analysis, there is also an urgent need to undertake a Europe-wide review of national family welfare and child protection systems as they relate to Roma children. This would preferably be supplemented by a comprehensive examination of grassroots child protection and support mechanisms in Roma communities. National child and family support systems have not always evidenced an approach to Roma children that is child rights-based or even family-friendly, and there is some justifiable suspicion of them within Roma communities. Child rights actors will need to openly acknowledge that structural discrimination and professional bias are as prevalent within child-focussed services, agencies and practice as in any other social institution. They will also need to explicitly challenge poor practice and professional bias. Only then will they ever be able to overcome Roma families' justified mistrust of social services and work in partnership with them to realize Roma children's rights.

If there is to be an improvement in Roma families' lives and if Roma children are to have a chance at achieving their rights within a reasonable timescale, then there will need to be a substantial increase in public and political support for Roma communities. This will require more visibility for Roma issues. A child rights-based approach offers an opportunity to expand the Roma child advocacy toolkit, extend the constituencies of support for Roma inclusion and child rights, and increase Roma child visibility within European lobbying and influencing networks. It provides greater scope to hold national governments to account and present the case for Roma inclusion to international bodies, local civil society and other stakeholders. It should bring in a new coterie of actors and raise the range and volume of the voices speaking out on behalf of Roma children and families, at local, national and European level. Hopefully, above all, it will provide a framework for Roma parents, children and adolescents to speak out about their situation as they perceive it and input into decisions that affect their lives.

Although everybody expresses concern about Roma children's rights, there is no one body or network dedicated to achieving them. In Roma inclusion frameworks, children's rights and needs tend to be subsumed within a wider community-focussed approach; in the child rights sector, Roma children's particular vulnerabilities can get lost within wider inclusion agendas. Numerous evaluations have

found that failing to value the needs and capacity of women and children reduces the impact and sustainability of Roma inclusion projects. A corresponding design flaw which inevitably lowers the success rates of many child rights initiatives is insufficient acknowledgement of antigypsyism as the primary factor in violations of Roma children's rights and failure to act strongly against it.

Expanding advocacy around Roma children requires practitioners in all sectors to get outside their current comfort zones and engage in dialogue, learning and action across sectors. With some notable exceptions, child rights and Roma inclusion actors currently work in separate silos towards the common goal of a better life for Roma children, and neither sector connects consistently, coherently or sufficiently with the other. This is not effective, cost-efficient or in the best interests of Roma children. Roma rights and child rights are two sides of the same coin, and one cannot be achieved without the other. Some common framework and/or focal point is essential to harness the support, commitment and energy of both sectors. This, in turn, will ensure that Roma children and parents are heard within their own communities and countries and are facilitated to be heard at the highest level of European policymaking. Roma families have been the shadow stakeholders for two decades and their voices need to be at the centre of this next phase of work. It is hoped that such efforts will see a genuine movement of Roma children, parents and communities united with other stakeholders to achieve full and equal rights for every Roma child in every European country by 2030.

Glossary

Abuse

Physical and/or sexual maltreatment of a child.

Accommodation

In this report, the term encompasses not just dwellings but also caravan halting sites and other temporary accommodation. (See also 'housing'.)

Adolescent

Defined by the United Nations as a person aged 10–19 [UNICEF, 2011]

Antigypsyism

"[A] historically constructed, persistent complex of customary racism against social groups identified under the stigma 'gypsy' or other related terms that incorporates a homogenizing and essentializing perception and description of these groups; the attribution of specific characteristics to them; discriminating social structures and violent practices that emerge against that background, which have a degrading and ostracizing effect and which reproduce structural disadvantages." [Alliance against Antigypsyism, 2017]

Best interests of the child

In 2013, the Committee on the Rights of the Child, in its General Comment Number 14, articulated seven specific elements for assessing a child's best interests: 1. The child's views; 2. The child's identity; 3. Preservation of the family environment and maintaining relations; 4. The care, protection, and safety of the child; 5. A situation of vulnerability; 6. The child's right to health; and 7. The child's right to education. Children's best interests must be examined and determined in each individual case in light of the specific circumstances of each child or group of children. These circumstances are related to the individual characteristics of the child or group of children concerned, including the social and cultural context in which they find themselves.

Central and Eastern Europe

Usually refers to Hungary, Czechia and Slovakia, but some of the studies quoted in this report include other countries such as Slovenia, Poland and Croatia.

Child; children

In accordance with the definition enshrined in Article 1 of the Convention, 'child' and 'children' are used in this report to refer to human beings who have not completed their eighteenth year of life unless majority is attained earlier under national law.

Child labour

Children working in contravention of International Labour Organization standards set out in Conventions 138 and 182, i.e. all children below 12 years of age working in any economic activities, those aged between 12 and 14 engaged in more than light work and all children who are engaged in the worst forms of child labour (enslaved, forcibly recruited, prostituted, trafficked, forced into illegal activities or exposed to hazards).

Child marriage

Any formal or customary marriage or informal union (registered or unregistered) where one or both spouses or partners are under the age of 18. [UNICEF, 2016]

Child protection

Prevention and response to violence, exploitation and abuse of children. [UNICEF, 2015]

Child rights-based approach

This study adopts a child rights-based approach as laid down by the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, General comment No.13: *The right of the child to freedom from all forms of violence*, 18 April 2011, CRC/C/GC/13, para. 59, available at: https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/crc/docs/CRC.C.GC.13_en.pdf

Convention

The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child.

Country

All the territories mentioned in this report are referred to as 'countries', whatever their official or internationally recognized status. The report refers to all countries by their short name in English or EU designated abbreviation as defined in Section 7.1 of Europa's 'Institutional Style Guide', which is available at http://publications.europa.eu/code/en/en-370100.htm

Decade

The Decade of Roma Inclusion (2005-2015).

Dropout

Withdrawal from an education or training programme before its completion.

Duty bearers

Actors who have a particular obligation or responsibility to respect, promote and realize children's human rights and abstain from child rights violations. The term is most commonly used to refer to State actors, but non-State actors can also be considered duty bearers.

EU Roma Framework

The EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies (2011–2020). Known since October 2020 as the EU Roma Strategic Framework for Equality, Inclusion and Participation (2020–2030).

EU Roma Strategic Framework 2020–2030

The EU Roma Strategic Framework for Equality, Inclusion and Participation (2020–2030).

Extended family

A wider network of family members that may include grandparents, uncles, aunts, etc.

Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina

One of the entities that compose the State of Bosnia and Herzegovina. It consists of 10 autonomous cantons with their own governments and legislatures.

Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia / FYR Macedonia

Former name of the country now called North Macedonia.

Housing

In this report, the term encompasses not just dwellings but also caravan halting sites and other temporary accommodation. (See also 'accommodation'.)

Kosovo

The territory of Kosovo, without prejudice to positions on status, in line with UNSCR 1244/1999.

Migrant

Defined in the global context as "a person who is outside the territory of the State of which they are nationals or citizens and who has resided in a foreign country for more than one year irrespective of the causes, voluntary or involuntary, and the means, regular or irregular, used to migrate" [EMN, 2018]. In the EU context, the term means a person who either (1) establishes their usual residence in the territory of a member State for a period that is, or is expected to be, of at least 12 months, having previously been usually resident in another member State or a third country, or (2) having previously been usually resident in the territory of a member State, ceases to have their usual residence in that member State for a period that is, or is expected to be, at least 12 months.

Pre-accession countries

Refers to Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Kosovo, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Serbia and Türkiye. These are sometimes referred to as 'enlargement countries' or 'candidate and pre-candidate' countries in official EU, EC and Council of Europe documents.

Rights-based approach

A conceptual framework for development that is normatively based on international human rights standards and operationally directed to promoting and protecting human rights. A rights-based approach integrates the norms, standards and principles of the international human rights system into the plans, policies and processes of development. A rights-based approach to development includes the following elements: explicit linkage to rights, accountability, empowerment, participation, non-discrimination and attention to vulnerable groups. [UNICEF, 2010]

Rights holders

Individuals or social groups that have particular entitlements in relation to specific duty bearers. In general terms, all human beings are rights holders under the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. In particular contexts, there are often specific social groups whose human rights are not fully realized, respected or protected. More often than not, these groups tend to include women/girls, ethnic minorities, indigenous peoples, migrants and youth. A human rights-based approach not only recognizes that the entitlements of rights holders need to be respected, protected and fulfilled but it also considers rights holders as active agents in the realization of human rights and development – both directly and through organizations representing their interests.

Roma / Romani

For readability purposes, the adjective 'Roma' is used in this report as a shorthand for 'Roma and Traveller' when referring to particular groups or individuals, such as Roma children or Roma families. Romani may also be used instead of 'Roma' when drawing directly from a report or document that uses that term.

The term 'Roma' as used in this report accords with the Council of Europe definition of Roma and Traveller [COE, 2012.01] and refers to Roma, Sinti, Kale, Manouche and related groups in Europe, including Travellers and the Eastern groups (Dom and Lom), and to persons who identify themselves as Gypsies. Specific nominations such as 'Egyptian', 'Ashkali' and 'Gens du voyage' are sometimes used when quoting directly from sources. The use of the generic term 'Roma' is not intended to deny the diversity that exists across and within these communities and groups.

Romanës

The Romani language or languages.

Social inclusion

The process of improving the terms on which individuals and groups take part in society by improving the ability, opportunity and dignity of those disadvantaged by their identity.

South-East Europe

Usually refers to Albania, Greece and North Macedonia, but various studies also include Montenegro, Kosovo and/or Bulgaria.

Study

Used in this report as a generic term to refer to any and all pieces of research, whatever their methodology or typology.

Western Balkans

Usually refers to Bosnia and Herzegovina, Kosovo, Montenegro and Serbia, but in some studies, it also includes North Macedonia, Albania and even Croatia.

Western Europe

Usually refers to some or all of the old EEC countries: Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, as well as Ireland, the United Kingdom, Switzerland and the Nordic Countries.

Yugoslavia

The country formerly known as the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia. It comprised the territories now known as Slovenia, Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, Kosovo, Serbia and North Macedonia.

Abbreviations and acronyms

COE Council of Europe

Ec European Commission

ECE early childhood education

ECEC early childhood education and care

ECRI European Commission against Racism and Intolerance

ERRC European Roma Rights Centre

EU European Union

FRA European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights

FSCG Feasibility Study for a Child Guarantee

IPA Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance

MICS Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys

MIDIS Minorities and Discrimination Survey

NEET not in employment, education or training

NGO non-governmental organization

NRIS National Roma Integration Strategy

OSCE Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe

RCM Roma Civil Monitoring (report)

SDGs Sustainable Development Goals

UNFPA United Nations Population Fund

UNHCR United Nations High Commission for Refugees

WHO World Health Organization

References

- Alboth, A. (2022), *They Have Never Caused Any War*, Minority Rights Group International, 28 September 2022, available at: https://minorityrights.org/2022/09/28/roma-war/
- Allen, R., O'Conner, S., Petanovic, M. and Bitu, N. (2016), *Thematic Evaluation on IPA Support to Roma Communities: Final Report*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: http://publications.europa.eu/resource/cellar/d2cc11f8-e10a-11e5-8a50-01aa75ed71a1.0001.03/DOC_1
- Alliance Against Antigypsyism (2017), *Antigypsyism: A Reference Paper*, Antigypsyism.eu, available at: https://antigypsyism.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Antigypsyism-reference-paper-PRINT-11.07.2017.pdf
- Antigone (2014), Shadow Report on Roma Segregation in Education, Thessaloniki, Greece.
- Associazione 21 Luglio (2010), Report on the Living Condition of Roma Minors in the Camp in Via Salone, Roma.
- Bereményi, B. A., Larkins, C. and Roth, M. (2017), *Policy Paper on Supporting Roma Children's Participation*, PEER, available at: http://www.peeryouth.eu/ctrl/Home/romania/WS2A6b%20-%20Public%20Policy%20Brief%20-%20%202017.01.27.pdf
- Bernat A. (2015), The Rights of Roma Children and Women in Bosnia and Herzegovina, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, and Serbia: A comparative review and further analysis of findings from MICS surveys in Roma settlements in the three countries, UNICEF, Geneva, Switzerland, available at: https://www.unicef.org/eca/sites/ unicef.org.eca/files/2017-10/Rights_Roma_Children_Woman.pdf
- Bhabha, J., Matache, M., Chernoff, M., Fuller, A., Lloyd McGarry, S., Simić, N. et al (2018), *One in One Hundred:*Drivers of Success and Resilience among College-Educated Romani Adolescents in Serbia, FXB Center for Health and Human Rights, Harvard University, Boston, USA, available at: https://fxb.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2464/2018/12/OneinOneHundred.pdf
- Bobak, M., Dejmek, J., Solanksy, I. and Sram, R. J. (2005), 'Unfavourable Birth Outcomes of the Roma Women in the Czech Republic and the Potential Explanations: A Population-Based Study', *BMC Public Health*, 5/106, available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-5-106
- Bormioli, S., Tullio Cataldo, A. and Colombo, M. (2014), *Civil Society Monitoring on the Implementation of the National Roma Integration Strategy in Italy in 2012 and 2013*, Decade of Roma Inclusion Secretariat Foundation, Budapest, Hungary, available at: https://www.academia.edu/9011487/Civil_Society_Monitoring_on_the_Implementation_of_the_National_Roma_Integration_Strategy_in_Italy_in_2012-2013
- Brown, P., Dwyer, P., Martin, P. and Scullion, L. (2014), *Roma Matrix Interim Research Report*, University of Salford, Manchester, UK, available at: http://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/95290/1/d1.4_17and19_rm_int_res_report_nov2014_v2_en.pdf
- Brozaitis, H., Makareviciene, A., Lipnickiene, K., Janeckova, H. and Cibaite, G. (2018), *Fighting Child Poverty: The Role of EU Funding*, study prepared for the European Parliament's Committee on Employment and Social Affairs, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2018/626059/IPOL_STU(2018)626059_EN.pdf
- Bulić, I. (2012), Common European Guidelines on the Transition from Institutional to Community-based Care, European Expert Group on the Transition from Institutional to Community-based Care, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://deinstitutionalisationdotcom.files.wordpress.com/2017/07/guidelines-final-english.pdf

- Byrne, K. (2013.01), *Child Protection Situation Analysis: The North West Balkans Context*, Save the Children, North West Balkans
- Byrne, K. (2013.02), Leave No Child Behind: The State of Children's Rights in Macedonia, UNICEF, Skopje, North Macedonia.
- Byrne, K. (2013.03), *The Status of Roma Children and Families in Bosnia and Herzegovina*, UNICEF, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina, available at: https://www.unicef.org/bih/en/reports/status-roma-children-and-families-bosnia-and-herzegovina
- Byrne, K. (2019), *An Analysis of the Situation of Women and Children in the Republic of North Macedonia*, UNICEF, Skopje, North Macedonia, available at: https://www.unicef.org/northmacedonia/reports/analysis-situation-women-and-children-republic-north-macedonia
- Byrne, K. and Razic Ilic, D. (2015), Policy and Practice Reform in Montenegro, UNICEF, Podgorica, Montenegro.
- Byrne, K. and Szira, J. (2019), *Mapping of Research on Roma Children in the European Union: 2014–2017*, DG Justice and Consumers, European Commission, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://commission.europa.eu/system/files/2019-03/mapping_of_research_of_roma_children_in_the_eu_2014_2017_final.pdf
- Cahn, C. and Guild, E. (2010), *Recent Migration of Roma in Europe*, 2nd edition, OSCE, available at: https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/4/d/78034.pdf
- Cemlyn, S. (2013), *Research re Social Work with Gypsies and Travellers 1983–2012*, presentation, School for Policy Studies, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK, available at: https://www.dmu.ac.uk/documents/business-and-law-documents/research/cchr/sarahcemlynpresentationmarch2013.pdf
- Center for Policy Studies (n.d.), *Development of Country Monitoring Reports by Local NGOs*, Roma Civil Monitor reports, available at: https://cps.ceu.edu/roma-civil-monitor-reports
- Central Statistics Office (2016), *Census 2016 Profile 8: Irish Travellers, Ethnicity and Religion*, available at: https://www.cso.ie/en/csolatestnews/presspages/2017/census2016profile8-irishtravellersethnicityandreligion
- Children's Rights Alliance (2020), Report Card 2020: Is Government Keeping its Promises to Children?, Dublin, Ireland, available at https://childrensrights.ie/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/CRA-Report-Card-2020-Final.pdf
- Chudoba, J. (2002), Citizenship in Transition: Statelessness, Poverty & Conflict in Central and Eastern Europe, Commission on Human Security, Moscow, Russia available at: https://www.academia.edu/es/1269786/
 Being_Recognized_as_Citizens_A_Human_Security_Dilemma_in_CEE
- CNDHR (Le Collectif National Droits de l'Homme Romeurope) (2018), 37 Expulsions de Squats et Bidonvilles cet Eté: Pour Résorber les Bidonvilles, il Est Urgent de Changer de Cap [37 Evictions from Squats and Shantytowns This Summer: A Change of Course is Urgently Needed to Reduce Shantytowns], CNDHR, available at: https://www.romeurope.org/37-expulsions-de-squats-et-bidonvilles-cet-ete-pour-resorber-les-bidonvilles-il-est-urgent-de-changer-de-cap/
- COE (Council of Europe) (2012.01), Council of Europe Descriptive Glossary of Terms Relating to Roma Issues, available at: https://childrenofprisoners.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Glossary_Roma_18May2012_CoE.pdf
- COE (2012.02), Estimates and Official Numbers of Roma in Europe: Updated July 2012, available at: https:// rm.coe.int/1680088ea9
- COE (2014), Annual Report on the Educational Situation of Forced Returnees and Roma, Ashkali and Egyptians, available at: https://rm.coe.int/CoERMPublicCommonSearchServices/ DisplayDCTMContent?documentId=09000016806955fe

- Colombini, M., Mayhew, S. H. and Rechel, B. (2011), Sexual and Reproductive Health Needs and Access to Services for Vulnerable Groups in Eastern Europe and Central Asia, United Nations Population Fund, available at: http://eeca.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/vulnerable%20groups%20book_0.pdf
- Committee on the Rights of the Child (2011) *General comment no. 13 (2011), The right of the child to freedom from all forms of violence* para.59 available at https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/711722
- Committee on the Rights of the Child (2012), Report of the 2012 Day of General Discussion on the Rights of all Children in the Context of International Migration, Geneva, Switzerland, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/HRBodies/CRC/Discussions/2012/DGD2012ReportAndRecommendations.pdf
- Committee on the Rights of the Child (2017), Joint General Comment No. 4 (2017) of the Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families and No. 23 (2017) of the Committee on the Rights of the Child on State Obligations Regarding the Human Rights of Children in the Context of International Migration in Countries of Origin, Transit, Destination and Return, CMW/C/GC/4-CRC/C/GC/23, United Nations, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/general-comments-and-recommendations/joint-general-comment-no-4-cmw-and-no-23-crc-2017
- Cooper, K. and Stewart, K. (2013), *Does Money Affect Children's Outcomes?*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation, York, UK, available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/care/does-money-affect-childrens-outcomes
- Council of the European Union (2020), COUNCIL DIRECTIVE 2000/43/EC of 29 June 2000 implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin available at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32000L0043
- Culora, A. and Janta, B. (2020), *Understanding the Housing Conditions Experienced by Children in the EU*, European Platform for Investing in Children, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?langld=en&catld=1250&furtherNews=yes&newsld=9647
- Dauti, M., Kamberi, O. and Çela, X. (2018), *A Satisfaction Survey on Social Services*, UNDP, Tirana, Albania, available at: https://www.al.undp.org/content/albania/en/home/library/poverty/a-satisfaction-survey-on-social-services-.html
- Dimitrova, K., Ivanova, S. and Alexandrova, Y. (2015), *Child Trafficking Among Vulnerable Roma Communities,*Policy Brief No. 54, July 2015, Center for the Study of Democracy, available at: https://csd.bg/fileadmin/user_upload/publications_library/files/22588.pdf
- Dorđević, B. (2013), *Politics of Return, Inequality and Citizenship in the Post-Yugoslav Space*, CITSEE Working Paper 2013/29, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK, available at: https://www.research.ed.ac.uk/en/publications/politics-of-return-inequality-and-citizenship-in-the-post-yugosla
- Duminică, G. and Ivasiuc, A. (2010), *One School for All? Access to Quality Education for Roma Children: Research report*, Agenzia Impreuna, UNICEF, available at: https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/view/27571321/one-school-for-all-unicef
- Duncan, M. and Corner, J. (2012), Severe and Multiple Disadvantage: A Review of Key Texts, Social Care Institute for Excellence, London, UK, available at: https://www.scie-socialcareonline.org.uk/severe-and-multiple-disadvantage-a-review-of-key-texts/r/a11G0000009HFhMIAW
- Dzeladin, D. and Doda, K. (2016), Segregation of Roma Children in Elementary Schools in the Republic of Macedonia, IHR/ERRC.
- EACEA (European Education and Culture Executive Agency) (2014), Key Data on Early Childhood Education and Care in Europe 2014 Edition, Eurydice and Eurostat report, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/3217494/5785249/EC-01-14-484-EN. PDF/cbdf1804-a139-43a9-b8f1-ca5223eea2a1

- EASO (European Asylum Support Office) (2013), Asylum Applicants From the Western Balkans: Comparative Analysis of Trends, Push–Pull Factors and Responses, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://euaa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/public/BZ0213708ENC.pdf
- EC (European Commission) (2011.01), An EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies up to 2020, COM(2011) 173 final, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52011DC0173&from=EN
- EC (2011.02), Early Childhood Education And Care: Providing All Our Children With the Best Start for the World of Tomorrow, COM(2011) 66 final, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2011:0066:FIN:EN:PDF
- EC (2012), National Roma Integration Strategies: A First Step in the Implementation of the EU Framework, COM(2012) 226 final, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52012DC0226&from=EN
- EC (2014), Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions European Commission Enlargement Strategy and Main Challenges 2014-15 COM(2014) 700 final (8 October 2014) Brussels, Belgium available at: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52014DC0700&qid=1703127284270
- EC (2018), Public Consultation on Evaluation of the EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies up to 2020, COM(2018) 785 final (4 December 2018) Brussels, Belgium available at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52018DC0785
- EC (2019.01), Report on the implementation of national Roma integration strategies 2019. Annex 1, Country summaries on EU Member States Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/3e0fe26c-3749-11ea-ba6e-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-search
- EC (2019.02) Report on the implementation of national Roma integration strategies 2019. Annex 2, Country summaries on the enlargement regions Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/ publication/4ff1ac7f-3749-11ea-ba6e-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-search
- EC (2020.01), A Union of Equality: EU Roma Strategic Framework for Equality, Inclusion and Participation, SWD(2020) 530 final, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://commission.europa.eu/publications/new-eu-roma-strategic-framework-equality-inclusion-and-participation-full-package_en
- EC (2020.02), Education and Training 2020 (ET 2020), available at: https://ec.europa.eu/education/policies/early-childhood-education-and-care_en
- EC (2021.01), EU Strategy on Combatting Trafficking in Human Beings 2021–2025, COM(2021) 171 final, European Economic and Social Committee, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://www.eesc.europa.eu/en/our-work/opinions-information-reports/opinions/eu-strategy-combatting-trafficking-human-beings-2021-2025
- EC (2021.02), EU Strategy on the Rights of the Child, COM(2021) 142 final, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:e769a102-8d88-11eb-b85c-01aa75ed71a1.0002.02/DOC_1&format=PDF
- ECRI (European Commission against Racism and Intolerance) (n.d.), *Country Monitoring Reports*, Council of Europe, available at: https://www.coe.int/en/web/european-commission-against-racism-and-intolerance/country-monitoring
- EMN (European Migration Network) (2018), *Glossary of Terms* available at: <u>EMN Asylum and Migration Glossary</u> European Commission (europa.eu)

- EPHA (European Public Health Alliance) (2018), Closing the Life Expectancy Gap of Roma in Europe, Roma Health and Early Childhood Development Study, available at: https://epha.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/closing-the-life-expectancy-gap-of-roma-in-europe-study.pdf
- ERRC (European Roma Rights Centre) (2011.01), *Imperfect Justice: A Report by the European Roma Rights Centre. Anti-Roma Violence and Impunity*, Budapest, Hungary, available at: https://romacenter.org/en/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/%C4%B0mperfect-Justice.pdf
- ERRC (2011.02), Life Sentence: A Report by the European Roma Rights Centre, Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, Milan Šimečka Foundation and osservAzione. Romani Children in Institutional Care, Budapest, Hungary, available at: http://www.errc.org/uploads/upload_en/file/life-sentence-20-june-2011.pdf
- ERRC (2014), Written Comments by the European Roma Rights Centre, Concerning Italy. To the Human Rights Council, Within its Universal Periodic Review, for Consideration at the 20th Session (27 October to 7 November 2014), available at: http://www.errc.org/uploads/upload_en/file/italy-un-upr-submission-20-march-2014.pdf
- ERRC (2016), Coercive and Cruel: A Report by the European Roma Rights Centre. Sterilisation and its Consequences for Romani Women in the Czech Republic (1966–2016), Budapest, Hungary, available at: http://www.errc.org/uploads/upload_en/file/coercive-and-cruel-28-november-2016.pdf
- ERRC (2017.01), Thirsting for Justice: A Report by the European Roma Rights Centre. Europe's Roma Denied Access to Clean Water and Sanitation, Budapest, Hungary, available at: http://www.errc.org/uploads/upload_en/file/thirsting-for-justice-march-2017.pdf
- ERRC (2017.02), Roma Belong. Statelessness, Discrimination and Marginalisation of Roma in the Western Balkans and Ukraine, Budapest, Hungary, available at: <a href="https://www.statelessness.eu/sites/www.statel
- ESN (European Social Network) (2012), *Child Poverty and Wellbeing in Europe*, ESN Position Paper on the EU Recommendation March 2012, available at: https://www.esn-eu.org/sites/default/files/publications/ESN_position_paper_on_Child_Poverty_and_Wellbeing.pdf
- Eurofound (2016), *Inadequate Housing in Europe: Costs and Consequences*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/en/publications/2016/inadequate-housing-europe-costs-and-consequences
- European Child Guarantee European Parliament resolution of 29 April 2021 on the European Child Guarantee (2021/2605(RSP)) (2021/C 506/15) available at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52021IP0161
- Eurostat (2014), *Statistics Explained: Glossary Dwelling*, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Glossary:Dwelling
- Eurostat (2018) Archive: Being young in Europe today living conditions for children available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Archive:Being_young_in_Europe_today_-_living_conditions_for_children
- Eurostat (2022), Educational attainment statistics available at https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.
 php?title=Educational_attainment_statistics#Development_of_educational_attainment_levels_over_time
- Fantacci, M. and Schulmann, L. (2014), Harcèlement et Stigmatisation: Politiques et Paroles Publiques Aggravent la Précarité des Habitants des Bidonvilles [Harassment and Stigmatisation: Public Policies and Words Exacerbate the Precariousness Of Slum Dwellers], Romeurope, available at: http://romeurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/5.1-Harcèlement-et-stigmatisation-politiques-et-paroles-publiques-aggravent-la-précarité-des-habitants-des-bidonvilles-Rapport-2012-2013-publié-en-mars-2014.pdf

- FRA (European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights) (2012), *The Situation of Roma in 11 EU Member States:*Survey Results at a Glance, FRA/UNDP, Luxembourg, available at: https://fra.europa.eu/en/publication/2012/situation-roma-11-eu-member-states-survey-results-glance
- FRA (2016), Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey: Roma Selected Findings, EU-MIDIS II, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra_uploads/fra-2016-eu-minorities-survey-roma-selected-findings_en.pdf
- FRA (2017), Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey: Technical Report, EU-MIDIS II,
 Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra_uploads/fra-2017-eu-midis-ii-technical-report_en.pdf
- FRA (2018.01) The Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey. Roma Selected findings

 Luxembourg available at https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra_uploads/fra-2016-eu-minorities-survey-roma-selected-findings_en.pdf
- FRA (2020), Roma and Travellers in Six Countries, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://fra.europa.eu/en/publication/2020/roma-travellers-survey
- Frazer, H. and Marlier, E. (2014), *Investing in Children: Breaking the Cycle of Disadvantage Synthesis Report*,
 European Commission, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://
 ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catld=89&langld=en&newsld=2061&moreDocuments=yes&tableName=news
- Frazer, H., Guio, A-C. and Marlier, E. (eds) (2020), Feasibility Study for a Child Guarantee: Intermediate Report, FSCG, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://www.alleanzainfanzia.it/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/FSCG- Intermediate-Report-on-feasiility-of-child-guarantee-FULL-FINAL-1.pdf
- Fresno, J. M., Meyer, S. and Bain, S. (2019.01), Feasibility Study for a Child Guarantee: Target Group Discussion Paper on Children living in Precarious Family Situations, FSCG, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docld=22873&langld=en
- Fresno, J. M., Lajčáková, J., Szira, J., Mačáková, S., Karoly, M. and Rossi, M. (2019.02), *A Meta-Evaluation of Interventions for Roma Inclusion*, Joint Research Centre, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC117901/final_report_metaevaluation_roma_online_version.pdf
- Friedmann, E. (2015), *Decade of Roma Inclusion Progress Report*, UNDP, Bratislava, Slovakia, available at: https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/eurasia/DORI-REPORT.pdf
- FSG (Fundación Secretariado Gitano) (ed.) (2009), Health and the Roma Community, Analysis of the Situation in Europe: Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Greece, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Spain, available at: https://www.gitanos.org/upload/78/83/Health_and_the_Roma_Community.pdf
- FSG (2020), Labour Situation of the Roma Community in Spain, available at: https://www.gitanos.org/que-hacemos/areas/employment/situacion.html
- Gedeshi, I. and Jorgoni, E. (2011), Mapping Roma Children in Albania, UNICEF and CESS, Tirana, Albania.
- Gómez, I. C. and End, M. (eds) (2019), *Dimensions of Antigypsyism in Europe*, European Network Against Racism (ENAR) and the Central Council for German Sinti and Roma, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://www.enar-eu.org/Book-Dimensions-of-Antigypsyism-in-Europe
- Goward, P., Repper, J., Appleton, L. and Hagan, T. (2006), 'Crossing Boundaries: Identifying and Meeting the Mental Health Needs of Gypsies and Travellers', *Journal of Mental Health*, 15/3, pp. 315–327, available at: http://shura.shu.ac.uk/337/

- Harmon, H. (2015), *Irish Traveller and Roma Children: Shadow Report*, Pavee Point, Dublin, Ireland, available at: http://www.paveepoint.ie/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Pavee-Point-Shadow-Report-for-UNCRC-on-Traveller-and-Roma-Children1.pdf
- Harvey, B. (2013), 'Travelling with Austerity': Impacts of Cuts on Travellers, Traveller Projects and Services, Pavee Point, Dublin, Ireland, available at: https://www.lenus.ie/bitstream/handle/10147/311120/
 TravellingAusterityPaveePoint2013.pdf?sequence=1
- Healy, C., Rogoz, M., Cibea, A. and Cernei, T. (2012), *Report for the Study on Typology and Policy Responses to Child Begging in the EU*, International Centre for Migration Policy Development (ICMPD), available at: https://humantraffickingsearch.org/resource/report-for-the-study-on-typology-and-policy-responses-to-child-begging-in-the-eu/
- Heidegger, P. and Wiese, K. (2020), Pushed to the Wastelands: Environmental Racism Against Roma

 Communities in Central and Eastern Europe, European Environmental Bureau, Brussels, Belgium, available at:

 https://eeb.org/library/pushed-to-the-wastelands-environmental-racism-against-roma-communities-in-central-and-eastern-europe/
- Hodgkin, R. and Newell, P. (2002), Implementation Handbook on the Rights of the Child, UNICEF, New York, US.
- Hojsík, M. and Fremlová, L. (eds) (2018), Roma Civil Monitor Pilot Project: A Synthesis of Civil Society's Reports on the Implementation of National Roma Integration Strategies in the European Union. Focusing on Structural and Horizontal Preconditions for a Successful Implementation, Center for Policy Studies and CEU, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://cps.ceu.edu/sites/cps.ceu.edu/files/attachment/basicpage/3034/rcm-civil-society-monitoring-report-1-synthesis27-2017-eprint-fin.pdf
- Hojsík, M., Fremlová, L. and Zentai, V. (eds) (2020), Roma Civil Monitor Pilot Project: A Synthesis of Civil Society's Reports on the Implementation of National Roma Integration Strategies in the European Union. Assessing the Progress in Four Key Policy Areas, Center for Policy Studies and CEU, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://cps.ceu.edu/sites/cps.ceu.edu/files/attachment/basicpage/3172/rcm-civil-society-monitoring-report-synthesis27-2019-eprint.pdf
- ISI (Institute on Statelessness and Inclusion) (2017), *The World's Stateless Children*, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://files.institutesi.org/worldsstateless17.pdf
- Kali Sara (2020), Roma Information Centre Report on Barriers in the Implementation of Mandatory Immunization Programs for Children in FBiH with a Focus on Roma Children, Kali Sara and Romalen, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina.
- Keith, L. and LeVoy, M. (2018), Protecting Undocumented Children: Promising Policies and Practices from Governments, Platform for Undocumented Migrants (PICUM), Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://picum.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Protecting-undocumented-children-Promising-policies-and-practices-from-governments_ReprintJan.2018.pdf
- Kelleher, C. C., Abdalla, S., Cronin, F., Daly, L., Drummond, A., Fitzpatrick, P. et al (2010), *All Ireland Traveller Health Study: Our Geels*, University College Dublin and Department of Health & Children, Dublin, Ireland available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23315684/
- Klaus, S. and Marsh, A. (2014), 'A Special Challenge for Europe: The Inclusion of Roma Children in Early Years Education and Care', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 22/3, pp. 336–346, available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2014.912896
- Knaus V. Widdmann P. et al Integration Subject to Conditions. A report on the situation of Kosovan Roma, Ashkali and Egyptian children in Germany and after their repatriation to Kosovo UNICEF (2010) Pristine

- Korver, R. J. (2020), Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies up to 2020: European Implementation Assessment, European Parliamentary Research Service (EPRS), available at https://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document.html?reference=EPRS_STU(2020)642827
- Krčar, M. and Laklija, M. (2018), Foster Care from the Perspective of Roma Foster Parents in Roma Settlements in Medimurje County, University of Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia, available at: https://bettercarenetwork.org/sites/default/files/KSI_26_2_2018_3.pdf
- Larkin, C. and Bilson, A. (2016), *The Magic 6: Participatory Action and Learning Experiences With Roma Youth Training Manual*, Babeş-Bolyai University (PEERyouth), available at: http://www.peeryouth.eu/ctrl/Home/UK/PEER%20Training%20Manual-%20English%20Language%20Version.pdf
- Lechner, C. (2012), *Social Thematic Study: The Situation of Roma 2012*, FRA and European Forum for Migration Studies, available at: https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/situation-of-roma-2012-1-de.pdf
- Lundy, L. (2007), "Voice" Is Not Enough: Conceptualizing Article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child', *British Educational Research Journal*, 33/6, pp. 927–942, available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/30032800
- Lundy, L. (2019), 'A Lexicon for Research on International Children's Rights in Troubled Times', *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, 27/4, pp. 595–601, available at: https://brill.com/view/journals/chil/27/4/ article-p595_595.xml?language=en
- MacLennan, K., McPhee, R., McPhee, S. and Turbett, C. (2017), *Gypsy Travellers: Human Rights and Social Work's Role*, Insight 35, Iriss, available at: https://www.iriss.org.uk/resources/insights/gypsy-travellers-human-rights-and-social-works-role
- Marsh, A. (2007), Research and the Many Representations of Romani Identity, ERRC, 20 November 2007, available at: http://www.errc.org/roma-rights-journal/research-and-the-many-representations-of-romani-identity
- Matras, Y. (2000), 'Romani Migrations in the Post-Communist Era: Their Historical and Political Significance', *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, 13/2, pp. 32–50, available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09557570008400297
- MATRIX (2014), Roma health report, health status of the Roma population Data collection in the Member States of the European Union European Commission, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://op.europa.eu/en/ publication-detail/-/publication/2e94eee6-282d-449e-93f7-e0c23e8c649a/language-en
- Médecins du Monde (2007), Les Roms que l'Europe laisse à la porte [The Roma that Europe leaves at the door].
- Médecins du Monde (2011), *Parias, les Roms en France* [Outcasts, the Roma in France], Dossier de Press, Saint-Denis, France, available at: https://issuu.com/medecinsdumonde/docs/dp_roms_juillet2011
- Mihailov, D. (2012), The Health Situation of Roma Communities: Analysis of the Data from the UNDP/World Bank/ EC Regional Roma Survey, 2011 Roma Inclusion Working Papers, UNDP, Bratislava, Slovakia, available at: https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/eurasia/The-health-situation-of-Roma-communities.pdf
- Morabito C., De Schauwer, E., Gradinaru, C., Mattelin, E. and Van Hove, G. (2019), Feasibility Study for a Child Guarantee. Children's Voices: Learning and Conclusions from Four Consultations with Children, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docld=22870&langld=en
- MRG (Minority Rights Group) (2018), World Directory of Minorities and Indigenous Peoples, available at: https://minorityrights.org/minorities/roma-19/

- Müller, S., Tair, F., Ibishi, B. and Gracanin, D. (2020), *Roma: Europe's Neglected Coronavirus Victims*, BIRN, Reporting Democracy, 01 April 2020, available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2020/04/01/roma-europes-neglected-coronavirus-victims/
- NGO Atina (2015), *Child Marriages in Serbia: Situation Analysis and Recommendations*, Ann and Vlade Divac Foundation, Belgrade, Serbia, available at: http://www.atina.org.rs/sites/default/files/Child%20Marriages%20 in%20Serbia-1.pdf
- O'Flaherty, M. (2018), Many EU Roma Face Life Like People in the World's Poorer Countries, FRA, 04 April 2018, available at: https://fra.europa.eu/en/press-release/2018/many-eu-roma-face-life-people-worlds-poorer-countries
- OHCHR (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights) (2009), *The Right to Adequate Housing*, Fact Sheet No. 21, OCHCR and UN Habitat, Geneva, Switzerland, available at: https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/download-manager-files/Right%20to%20adequate%20housing.pdf
- OSCE (Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe) (2000), *Report on the Situation of Roma and Sinti in the OSCE Area*, The Hague, Netherlands, available at: https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/7/f/32350.pdf
- OSCE (2013), Implementation of the Action Plan on Improving the Situation of Roma and Sinti Within the OSCE Area: Renewed Commitments, Continued Challenges, Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (ODIHR), Warsaw, Poland, available at: https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/8/4/107406.pdf
- OSCE (2014), Best Practices for Roma Integration: Regional Report on Housing Legalization, Settlement Upgrading and Social Housing for Roma in the Western Balkans, ODIHR, Warsaw, Poland, available at: https://www.osce.org/odihr/115737
- Pavee Point (2014), Challenging Barriers and Misconceptions: Roma Maternal Health in Ireland, Roma Seminar Series Theme Two, Dublin, Ireland, available at: https://www.paveepoint.ie/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/ Roma-Maternal-Health-in-Ireland.pdf
- Pavee Point (2015), Young Pavees: Their Mental Health Needs. A Research Report, Dublin, Ireland, available at: http://www.paveepoint.ie/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Young-Pavees-Their-Mental-Health-Needs.pdf
- Pavee Point (2018.01), *National Roma Needs Assessment: Health Briefing*, Pavee Point and the Department of Justice and Equality, Dublin, Ireland, available at: https://www.paveepoint.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/ RomaHealthBrief.pdf
- Pavee Point (2018.02), Roma in Ireland: A National Needs Assessment, Pavee Point and the Department of Justice and Equality, Dublin, Ireland, available at: https://www.paveepoint.ie/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/RNA-PDF.pdf
- Perić, T. and Demirovski, M. (2000), 'Unwanted: The Exodus of Kosovo Roma (1998–2000)', *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, 13/2, pp. 83–96, available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233199737_Unwanted_the_exodus_of_Kosovo_Roma_1998_-_2000
- Petrova, D. (2005), 'Marginalization of Roma in Russia: Less Noticed but no Less Oppressive' in Open Society
 Foundations (ed.), *Open Society News: The Decade of Roma Inclusion Challenging Centuries of Discrimination,*Summer-Fall 2005, pp. 18–19, available at: https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/open-society-news-decade-roma-inclusion#publications_download
- Power, C. (2004), *Room to Roam: England's Irish Travellers*, The Community Fund, London, UK, available at: https://www.statewatch.org/media/documents/news/2005/feb/Room-to-Roam-England's-Irish-Travellers.pdf
- Roma Decade (n.d.), *Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005–2015: Decade Watch and Civil Society Reports*, Roma Integration 2020, Regional Cooperation Council, available at: https://www.rcc.int/romaintegration2020/ romadecade_p/12/civil-society-reports

- Rorke, B. (2015), Somewhere between Hope and Despair: Whatever Happened to Roma Inclusion Between 2005 and 2015?, DRI Secretariat.
- Rorke, B. (2016), Kosovo Lead Poisoning: A Tragic Timeline of Poisoned Neglect, ERRC, 09 September 2016, available at: http://www.errc.org/news/kosovo-lead-poisoning-a-tragic-timeline-of-poisoned-neglect
- Rorke, B. (2020), Covid-19, the EU and the Rule of Law: Colour-Blind Consultations Just Don't Cut It, ERRC, 12 May 2020, available at: http://www.errc.org/news/covid-19-the-eu-and-the-rule-of-law-colour-blind-consultations-just-dont-cut-it
- Rorke, B., Szilvasi, M. and O'Reilly, K. (eds) (2017), Roma Rights: Roma and Conflict Understanding the Impact of War and Political Violence, ERRC, Budapest, Hungary, available at: http://www.errc.org/roma-rights-journal/r
- Ryder, A. (2020), Roma Civil Monitor: A Synthesis of Civil Society's Reports on the Implementation of National Roma Integration Strategies in the European Union. Identifying Blind Spots in Roma Inclusion Policy, Center for Policy Studies (CEU), Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, available at: https://
 op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/8dc05433-a82d-11ed-b508-01aa75ed71a1/language-en
- Salioska, N. (2018), "The Gray Area" Between Tradition and Children's Rights, Roma Organization for Multicultural Affirmation and S.O.S., Prilep, North Macedonia.
- Sardelic, J. (2017), 'Romani Minorities in War Conflicts and Refugee Crises of the (Post)-Yugoslav Space: A Comparative Socio-Historical Perspective' in Rorke, B., Szilvasi, M. and O'Reilly, K. (eds) (2017), Roma Rights: Roma and Conflict Understanding the Impact of War and Political Violence, ERRC, Budapest, Hungary, pp. 35–40, available at: http://www.errc.org/roma-rights-journal/roma-rights-1-2017-roma-and-conflict-understanding-the-impact-of-war-and-political-violence
- Save the Children (2007), *Child Protection and Care Related Definitions*, fact sheet, available at: https:// bettercarenetwork.org/sites/default/files/attachments/Care_and_Protection_Definitions_STC_Oct_07.pdf
- Save the Children (2012), Regional Report on Child Begging: Prevalence, Prevention and Suppression of Child Begging, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina, available at: https://childhub.org/en/child-protection-online-library/regional-report-child-begging
- Save the Children in Albania (2017), Determination of the Best Interests of the Child: Guidelines and Checklist for Albanian Professionals Working on Child Protection Issues, Save the Children in Albania and International Child Development Initiatives, Tirana, Albania, available at: https://childhub.org/sites/default/files/attachments/sc_determination_of_the_best_interest_final.pdf
- SPC (Social Protection Committee) (2014), SPPM Thematic Reviews on the 2012 Social Trends to Watch. Child Poverty and Social Exclusion: Investing in Children and Their Well-Being, European Commission, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=14888&langId=en
- Spencer, S. and Hughes, V. (2015), *Outside and In: Legal Entitlements to Health Care and Education for Migrants with Irregular Status in Europe*, COMPAS, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK, available at: https://www.compas.ox.ac.uk/2015/outside-and-in/
- STP (Society for Threatened Peoples) (2015), Lost in Transition: The Forced Migration Circle of Roma, Ashkali, and Balkan Egyptians from Kosovo, Switzerland, available at: https://www.gfbv.ch/wp-content/uploads/kosovobericht_english.pdf
- Swedish Ministry of Culture (2015), *The Dark Unknown History: White Paper on Abuses and Rights Violations Against Roma in the 20th Century*, Stockholm, Sweden, available at: https://www.government.se/contentassets/eab06c1ac82b476586f928931cfc8238/the-dark-unknown-history---white-paper-on-abuses-and-rights-violations-against-roma-in-the-20th-century-ds-20148

- Szilvasi, M. and de Verneuil, M. (2019), 'The Struggle for the Right to Water for Roma in France', in Gómez, I. C. and End, M. (eds), *Dimensions of Antigypsyism in Europe*, ENAR and the Central Council of German Sinti and Roma, Brussels, Belgium, pp. 124–149, available at: https://www.enar-eu.org/wp-content/uploads/20116_book_roma_final.pdf
- Taoussi, L. (2017), 20 Propositions Pour le Politique d'Inclusion des Personnes Vivant en Bidonvilles et Squats [20 Proposals for a Policy of Inclusion for People Living in Slums and Squats], Collectif National Droits de l'Homme Romeurope, avaliable at: http://www.romeurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Rapport_2017_20-propositions-1.pdf
- Tomer, J. F. (2014), 'Adverse Childhood Experiences, Poverty, and Inequality: Toward an Understanding of the Connections and the Cures', *World Economic Review*, 3, pp. 20–36, available at: http://wer.worldeconomicsassociation.org/files/WEA-WER-3-Tomer.pdf
- Torotcoi, S. and Pecak, M. (2019), 'Path to Higher Education: Combating Antigypsyism by Building Roma Students' Aspirations and Resilience' in Gómez, I. C. and End, M. (eds), *Dimensions of Antigypsyism in Europe*, ENAR and the Central Council of German Sinti and Roma, Brussels, Belgium, pp. 301–321, available at: https://www.enar-eu.org/wp-content/uploads/20116_book_roma_final.pdf
- UN Convention on the Rights of the Child was adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession by General Assembly resolution 44/25 of 20 November 1989. It entered into force on 2 September 1990, in accordance with Article 49. Text is available at https://www.unicef.org/media/52626/file
- UNGA (United Nations General Assembly) (2015), Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, Resolution 70/1 adopted by the 70th meeting of the United Nations General Assembly on 25 September 2015, United Nations, available at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld
- UNHCR (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees) (2000), Roma Asylum-Seekers, Refugees and Internally Displaced, Geneva, Switzerland, available at: https://www.refworld.org/pdfid/42527bdf4.pdf
- UNICEF (2007), Breaking the Cycle of Exclusion: Roma Children in South East Europe, UNICEF Serbia, Belgrade, Serbia, available at: https://www.unicef.org/serbia/media/7516/file/Breaking%20the%20cycle%20of%20exclusion.pdf
- UNICEF (2009.01), *Progress for Children: A Report Card on Child Protection*, Number 8, September 2009, New York, US, available at https://www.unicef.org/reports/progress-children-no-8
- UNICEF (2011), *The Right of Roma Children to Education: Position Paper*, Geneva, Switzerland, available at: https://www.unicef.org/eca/media/1566/file/Roma%20education%20postition%20paper.pdf
- UNICEF (2014.01), *Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2014 and Serbia Roma Settlements*, UNICEF Serbia and the Statistical Office of Republic of Serbia, Belgrade, Serbia, available at: https://www.unicef.org/serbia/en/reports/multiple-indicator-cluster-survey-2014
- UNICEF (2014.02), Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2013–2014: Roma, Ashkali and Egyptian Communities in the Republic of Kosovo, UNICEF and the Kosovo Agency of Statistics, Priština, Kosovo, available at: https://www.unicef.org/kosovoprogramme/reports/multiple-indicator-cluster-survey-2013-2014-0
- UNICEF (2015) Child protection overview at https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-protection/overview/
- UNICEF (2016) Child Marriage UNICEF (2016) New York
- <u>UNICEF (2017), Child Marriage Among the Roma Population in Serbia, Ethnographic Research, UNICEF Serbia, Belgrade, Serbia, available at: https://www.unicef.org/serbia/en/reports/child-marriage-among-roma-population-serbia</u>

- UNICEF (2018), *SDG Global Indicators Related to Children*, UNICEF Briefing Note Series, available at: https://data.unicef.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/SDG-Briefing-Notes-web-1.pdf
- van Hout, M. C. and Stankiewizc, T. (2009), 'Roma and Irish Traveller Housing and Health: A Public Health Concern', *Critical Public Health*, 22/2, pp. 1–15, available at: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/241712453_Roma_and_Irish_Traveller_housing_and_health_-a_public_health_concern
- Walker, M. R. (2008), *Suicide Amongst the Irish Traveller Community 2000–2006*, available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/344364588_Suicide_amongst_Members_of_the_Travelling_Community
- Watson, H. L. and Downe, S. (2017), 'Discrimination Against Childbearing Romani Women in Maternity Care in Europe: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review', *Reproductive Health*, 14/1, available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-016-0263-4
- Weiste-Paakkanen, A., Lämsä, R. and Kuusio, H. (2018), Suomen Romaniväestön Osallisuus Ja Hyvinvointi: Romanien Hyvinvointitutkimus Roosan Perustulokset 2017–2018 [Inclusion and Well-being of the Finnish Roma Population: Basic Results of the Roma Wellbeing Survey 2017–2018], Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, Helsinki, Finland, available at: http://www.julkari.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/137276/RAP2018_15_Suomen%20romaniväestö_web%20%282%29.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- WHO (2021) Roma Inclusion Newsletter October 2021 available at: https://us4.campaign-archive.com/?u=bb832ff4c9f8efad547ffcf69&id=e2639a9ce7
- Young Roma (2016), PEER Action Guide: By Young Roma for Young Roma and All Children, PEER, Rejuvenate, available at: https://rejuvenate.global/resource/peer-action-guide-by-young-roma-for-young-roma-and-all-children/
- Zampas, C., Barot, S., Bukovska, B. and Zoon, I. (2003), *Body and Soul: Forced Sterilization and Other Assaults on Roma Reproductive Freedom in Slovakia*, Center for Reproductive Rights and Poradna pre obcianske a l'udské práva (Centre for Civil and Human Rights), Bratislava, Slovakia, available at: https://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/bo_slov_part1.pdf

Endnotes

- The Convention was adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession by General Assembly resolution 44/25 of 20 November 1989. It entered into force on 2 September 1990, in accordance with Article 49.
- The numbers are calculated on the basis of 40 per cent of 11.175 million Roma in the Council of Europe area as calculated in COE [2012.02], accessed 14 December 2021. The estimate of a 40 per cent under-18 population rate is extrapolated from official figures quoted in UNICEF [2014.01] (40.2 per cent), Gedeshi and Jorgoni [2011] (43 per cent) and Byrne (2013) (42 per cent).
- $For \ detailed \ information, see \ \underline{https://ec.europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rig$ strategy-rights-child-and-european-child-guarantee_en
- A Union of Equality: EU Roma Strategic Framework for Equality, Inclusion and Participation [EC, 2020.01] (hereafter the EU Roma Strategic Framework 2020–2030) replaced the old EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies up to 2020 introduced in 2011. Both frameworks aim to tackle the socio-economic exclusion of Roma in the EU and enlargement countries by promoting equal access to education, employment, health and housing. They call on member States to design National Roma Integration Strategies to appoint national Roma contact points and set national goals. In 2013, the European Council adopted a Recommendation on effective Roma integration measures in the member States, which provided guidance on how to strengthen implementation of national strategies. Several pre-accession countries have voluntarily aligned with the EU framework. The EU Roma Strategic Framework 2020-2030 is available at https://commission.europa.eu/ publications/new-eu-roma-strategic-framework-equality-inclusion-and-participation-full-package_en
- The full text is available at https://ec.europa.eu/info/policies/justice-and-fundamental-rights/rights-child/eustrategy-rights-child-and-european-child-guarantee_en
- For a discussion of the differences between child rights-based and child welfare approaches, see Lundy (2019). 6
- 7 The full text of the Convention is available at https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx For a detailed discussion of the articles of the Convention, see Hodgkin and Newell [2002].
- The child rights approach aims to further the realization of the rights of all children as set out in the Convention by developing the capacity of duty bearers to meet their obligations to respect, protect and fulfil rights (Article 4) and the capacity of rights holders to claim their rights, guided at all times by the rights to non-discrimination (Article 2); consideration of the best interests of the child (Article 3, Paragraph 1); life, survival and development (Article 6); and respect for the views of the child (Article 12). Children also have the right to be directed and guided in the exercise of their rights by caregivers, parents and community members, in line with children's evolving capacities (Article 5). This child rights approach is holistic and places emphasis on supporting the strengths and resources of the children themselves and all social systems of which they are a part: family, school, community, institutions and religious and cultural systems.
- The search strategy and criteria used in this study were originally devised by Byrne and Szira in 2018 as part of a study commissioned by the EC to map research on Roma children in the EU between 2014 and 2017 (Contract JUST/2016/RCHI/PR/RIGH/0163), which identified and analysed 486 studies and evaluations [Byrne and Szira, 2018].
- 10 These are Albania, Armenia, Austria, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czechia, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Kosovo, the Republic of Moldova, Montenegro, the Netherlands, North Macedonia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Türkiye, the United Kingdom and Ukraine. All but Kosovo and the Russian Federation are member States of the Council of Europe.
- 11 NRIS of EU member States are available on the EC website at https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/ publication/3e0fe26c-3749-11ea-ba6e-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-search NRIS of candidate and potential candidate countries can be accessed at https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/ publication/4ff1ac7f-3749-11ea-ba6e-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-search
- 12 The estimate was based on updating FSG [2009]. See also Endnote 2.
- 13 See, for instance, ECRI [n.d.] Country Report for Serbia, Paragraph 60. See also ECRI [n.d.] country reports for Bulgaria, Czechia, France, Hungary, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, Spain, Switzerland, Türkiye and the United Kingdom.
- 14 Adapted by the author from UNICEF [2009.01].
- 15 The at-risk-of poverty rate includes those living in households with an equivalized household income below the national at-risk-of-poverty threshold, which is 60 per cent of the annual median income after social transfers and annually published by Eurostat. EU-MIDIS II asked respondents about their current monthly household income. By contrast, data collected for the Eurostat indicator provide information about annual household incomes.

- 16 Based on a household's ability to afford at least four out of nine basic expenditures, such as healthy food or heating,
- 17 Article 27.3 stipulates that "States Parties, in accordance with national conditions and within their means, shall take appropriate measures to assist parents and others responsible for the child to implement this right and shall in case of need provide material assistance and support programmes, particularly with regards to nutrition, clothing and housing". See Hodgkin and Newell [2002: pp 397-399] and OHCHR [2009: pp. 16-20].
- 18 For the official definition of 'dwelling' adopted in EC documents, see Eurostat [2014]. However, in this document the terms 'housing' and/or 'accommodation' encompass not just dwellings but also caravan halting sites and other temporary accommodation.
- 19 Bulgaria, Croatia, Czechia, Greece, Hungary, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia and Spain.
- 20 Bulgaria, Croatia, Czechia, Greece, Hungary, Romania, Slovakia and Spain.
- 21 For a fuller discussion, see Klaus and Marsh [2014].
- 22 FRA points out that comparability between the EU-MIDIS II and Eurostat NEET rate is restricted due to their different definitions and age bands.
- 23 Adapted from UNICEF [2009.01].
- 24 Bulgaria, Czechia, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Spain and the United Kingdom.
- 25 For instance, the World Health Organization/Europe's October 2021 Roma Inclusion Newsletter reports on a seminar organized by the Irish Association of Social Workers entitled Working with Traveller and Roma Communities as part of its Anti-Racism Strategic Plan 2021–2023. See Roma Inclusion Newsletter database at https://us4.campaign-archive.com/?u=bb832ff4c9f8efad547ffcf69&id=e2639a9ce7
- 26 For more details of how the best interests of the child should be assessed (or determined), see Save the Children in Albania [2017].
- 27 Duminică and Ivasiuc [2010] is an excellent example of a Roma-led critique of how discrimination works in practice.
- 28 Calculated on the basis of 80 per cent of 40 per cent of 6 million Roma within the EU, as estimated by the Council of Europe. See COE [2012.02], accessed 14 December 2021.
- 29 Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Kosovo, Montenegro, Serbia and Türkiye. Croatia has since achieved full EU membership.
- 30 These figures are indicative as it was only possible to identify funds allocated to Roma in Roma-specific projects.
- 31 In contrast with child rights, there is a growing body of literature on gender issues, much of it written by Roma women.

The opinions and interpretations expressed in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the views of UNICEF, its staff, management, partners or donors.

UNICEF works in the world's toughest places to reach the most disadvantaged children and adolescents and to protect the rights of every child, everywhere. Across 190 countries and territories, we do whatever it takes to help children survive, thrive and fulfil their potential, from early childhood through adolescence.

And we never give up.

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight tackles the current and emerging questions of greatest importance for children. It drives change through research and foresight on a wide range of child rights issues, sparking global discourse and actively engaging young people in its work.

UNICEF Innocenti equips thought leaders and decision-makers with the evidence they need to build a better, safer world for children. The office undertakes research on unresolved and emerging issues, using primary and secondary data that represent the voices of children and families themselves. It uses foresight to set the agenda for children, including horizon scanning, trends analysis and scenario development.

The office produces a diverse and dynamic library of high-level reports, analyses and policy papers, and provides a platform for debate and advocacy on a wide range of child rights issues.

UNICEF Innocenti provides, for every child, answers to their most pressing concerns.

Published by

UNICEF Innocenti - Global O ffice of Research and Foresight

Via degli Alfani, 58 50121, Florence, Italy

Tel: (+39) 055 20 330 Email: innocenti@unicef.org

Social media: @UNICEFInnocenti on Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, Twitter and YouTube

Suggested citation

Kevin Byrne, Europe's Forgotten Children: Roma Children and their Families in Europe 2000 – 2020 – A Child Rights Perspective, UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight, May 2024.

© United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), May 2024

for every child, answers

